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Introduction

Prosper Group’s service provider companies, Prosper Fingal and Prosper Meath, are community based 
non-statutory companies, funded under Section 39 of the Health Act 2004, that provide a range of 
services and supports to adults with an intellectual disability on behalf of the Health Service Executive 
(HSE).   

Prosper’s commitment to the people it supports is set out in the 

organisation’s Core Purpose, Core Values and Core Operational 

Principles, which underpin how the organisation conducts its 

business. 

Core Purpose

To support each individual to live the life they choose, in the 

same way and same places as everybody else.

Core Values

• Treat each person as an individual

• Respect each person’s adulthood and rights as an adult

• Listen to what people have to say

• Encourage people to make their own decisions and choices

• Support people to be part of their local community

• Support people to develop their skills, talents and interests

Core Operational Principles

• Being person-centred in what we do 

• Enabling active citizenship 

• Involving families and carers 

• Having the right staff 

• Providing quality services

Head Office is based in  

Strand Street,  

Skerries,  

Co. Dublin, 

K34 TD61 

Tel. 01 8493600  

email: info@prospergroup.ie and  

website: www.prosperfingal.ie
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Chairperson’s Address

“Our organisation, and the 
sector in general, are now 
operating in a very different 
environment than even five 
years ago. We are in a time 
of rapid change. However,  
I have great confidence in 
my fellow Board members,  
the executive management 
and the staff of Prosper 
Fingal and Prosper Meath  
to continue on this journey 
of change and progress.”
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It has been a privilege to be the first Chairman of the newly 

formed Prosper Group.  As anticipated, it has been, and 

continues to be, a huge challenge to blend two separate 

provider companies and situate them, and other related 

companies, within a new group structure.  As it will take an 

estimated five years to have this new group fully operational, 

in 2015 we focused on putting in place a strong foundational 

base on which to build over the coming years.  Through the 

expertise and dedication of many people, we have made 

progress in this regard.  We are fortunate to have a Board of 

Directors with the necessary skills and attributes to oversee the 

development of the Prosper Group, whose membership also 

reflects the geography of our new region of provision.  

The establishment of new Board Committees over the year 

brings increased knowledge and expertise to our companies.  

When I reflect on the new members, I can identify individuals 

with specialist expertise in HR, Finance, Healthcare and 

Management.  This can only strengthen the capacity and 

oversight of the Board to guide Prosper in its future ambitions.  

Currently, we are under increasing pressure to provide 

high quality services in a period of increased statutory and 

contractual obligations in the areas of client safeguarding, 

person-centeredness, financial and corporate accountability 

and health & safety.  This is alongside an increased demand 

for services, and pressures to meet the needs of an ageing 

client and carer population that looks to Prosper for assurance 

into the future.  I am concerned about the capacity of our 

budget to meet the needs and expectations presenting, both in 

revenue and capital funding required.  

In my view, it is essential that we set out a strategic plan for 

the next three years to guide us as we endeavour to manage 

the demands ahead.  Client, family, funder and governing 

body expectations have heightened against a significantly 

reduced funding allocation.  Such a strategic plan should 

consider matters including governance, quality, finance and 

financial oversight, health & safety and the model of support 

we want to provide to the individual and their family/carer. Our 

organisation, and the sector in general, are now operating in 

a very different environment than even five years ago.  We are 

in a time of rapid change.  However, I have great confidence in 

my fellow Board members, the executive management and the 

staff of Prosper Fingal and Prosper Meath to continue on this 

journey of change and progress. 

I would like to thank the Board of Directors, Board Committees 

and the management and staff of the Prosper Group for their 

extraordinary contribution throughout the year.  On behalf of 

the Board, I would like to express our appreciation to Health 

Service Executive (HSE) Dublin North, HSE Meath and the Office 

of the National Director of Social Care for their continued 

guidance and support.  I would also like to acknowledge 

the different Government Departments and agencies, local 

authorities and community groups for their support and 

assistance throughout the year.

Finally, as Chairman, I would like to acknowledge the greater 

presence and participation of people with disabilities in their 

own local communities.  I am so proud that we are playing a 

critical part in that onward development.  

This Annual Report sets out the scale and complexity of service 

provision in 2015 and the advances made in our model of 

service and its oversight during that year.   

Conor Sparks, 
Chairperson

Chairperson’s Address

Conor Sparks 
Chairperson
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The year 2015 represented the first operational year of the new 

Prosper Group structure, with its new Board of Directors, Board 

Committees and Executive Management Team.  It was a year of 

significant change, which led to a process of deeper reflection 

on how to align Prosper Fingal and Prosper Meath.  Corporate 

obligations took priority as the Board of Directors identified and 

acknowledged their statutory obligations, alongside setting out 

a vision, built on common values, policies and practices.  While 

this vision is essential, it is a complex task to deliver on.  This 

Annual Report sets out the progress in bringing our services 

in Fingal and Meath together, whilst continuing to meet our 

obligations as a HSE funded service provider in two separate 

HSE Community Health Organisation (CHO) Areas.  

The scope of service provision across the Group is now 

considerable.  Today we support 465 individuals and their 

families from 22 locations, with a workforce of 165 whole 

time equivalent posts, from a budget of €10.5M. Within that 

provision we operate Day, Respite, Residential, Clinical and 

some Transport services.  This scale of provision intensifies 

the complexity of aligning values, policies and practices. In 

addition, the pressure for expansion is of concern with ongoing 

school leaver demand placing a strain on our current locations 

and provision.  Demand for emergency residential placements 

is also coming to the fore due to ageing carers and/or issues 

arising from complex home situations.  Notwithstanding these 

facts, progress has been made in 2015 in many areas. They  

are as follows:

• We have developed a model of Personal Planning 

that reflects national and international practice. Our 

organisational planning process has been well advanced in 

Fingal and this learning and methodology will be brought to 

Meath.  

• The personal planning process has been strengthened by the 

introduction of a new personal file for every service user in 

2015.  This standardised and well considered filing system 

ensures greater clarity and consistency in what, and how we 

record and maintain data about the individuals we support.  

It will link directly with the Prosper Shared Client Database, 

which is an essential IT development to bring greater 

efficiency across our services and Group.  

• We have reviewed our entire policy development process in 

order that our policies are more user friendly and provide 

a clearer and unified position.  A number of critical policies 

were drafted in accordance with the new process and 

implemented across Prosper Fingal and Meath in 2015.  

• A significant development was the introduction of an 

‘Internal Audit’ process in key areas.  As part of this process, 

we now have an internal audit team that includes in-house 

expertise in finance, Health & Safety (H&S), Personal Planning 

and record management.  The team commenced work in 

Fingal in 2015 and will be expanded to Meath in 2016.  

• The Prosper Safety Statement was reviewed and re-issued 

to incorporate Prosper Fingal and Prosper Meath and work 

commenced on reviewing and redrafting other safety-related 

policies.  In addition, Accident/Incident records and incidents 

of behaviours that challenge were closely monitored, 

highlighting safety concerns arising from inappropriate 

client placements and/or over-crowding in certain locations.  

This led to significant investment in H&S training across the 

Group, but ultimately leads directly back to the critical need 

for targeted capital investment to ensure service locations are 

appropriate to individuals’ needs.  

• Our Clinical team had the responsibility of interpreting and 

implementing the new HSE national Safeguarding Vulnerable 

Persons at Risk of Abuse policy.  They generated an internal 

briefing document which was circulated to all staff and a 

training package was developed and delivered across the 

Group.  Families / carers were sent information on the policy.

I am pleased to state that we delivered our services within 

budget in 2015 and, while this highlights the careful, 

 Chief Executive’s Statement

Pat Reen, 
Chief Executive Officer
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continuous oversight and management of our funds, it was 

not without challenge.  The cost of delivering services has 

grown due to increased expenditure associated with the 

recruitment, retention and training of staff, property and 

vehicle maintenance, capital investment and rising general 

overheads, including insurance.  Despite this, the need for 

increased investment has been highlighted by the Board 

Committees, most particularly the Quality and Risk Committee 

and the Remuneration Committee in relation to their areas of 

responsibility.  This puts pressure on the Finance and Assets 

Committee to respond in a strategic but responsible way.

A number of essential capital projects were undertaken in 

2015.  In Fingal these included the commencement of building 

works at The Lodge, Balbriggan, the acquisition of The Obelisk 

in Skerries and the development of The Mall Day Service in 

Swords town centre.  In Meath, the suitability of the current 

property portfolio in meeting H&S obligations and client 

need came into question as serious property deficits were 

identified in the merger Due Diligence process.  In response, we 

developed a ‘Premises Assessment’ tool to rate each premises 

against core criteria for safe and appropriate service delivery.  

This tool will inform the Board of Management on how to 

prioritise future capital investment in both Meath and Fingal 

and indicated what action we should take in relation to existing 

premises in Meath about which we had concerns.  Therefore, 

in 2015 we leased a property at High Street in Trim and in High 

Street in Ashbourne from which to deliver existing services.  

Some essential refurbishment work was undertaken.  While 

these two developments in Meath are welcome, they are only 

short-term arrangements.  We need to develop long-term and 

permanent solutions that align with national policy.

The progress made in 2015 would not have happened without 

the expertise, effort and cooperation of so many committed 

staff.  Like all staff in the sector, they are feeling the strain of 

doing ‘more for less’ and still they deliver with sincerity and 

conviction.  The reputation of our organisation is built on our 

workforce and their individual values, beliefs and experience.  

I would like to acknowledge the new Board and its Committees 

for the guidance and direction provided in 2015, despite the 

challenges faced.  I look forward to building on our working 

relationship for the betterment of services to the individuals 

and families we support.

To the people we support and their families, I thank you for 

your continued encouragement and questioning.  The Prosper 

Parent/Family Forums in Fingal and Meath are the avenues to 

strengthen our relationship through shared learning and honest 

debate.  

This Annual Report presents Prosper’s service provision across 

its new geographical region.  We value the trust that the HSE 

has invested in us in this regard and I thank most sincerely 

all the HSE and Government Officials who have helped us 

throughout the year. 

Pat Reen, 
Chief Executive Officer
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Prosper – Corporate Structure

Formation of the new ‘Prosper Group’ has continued in 2015.  Companies in Prosper Group continue 
to work with Deloitte Ireland with a view to finalising the ‘Company Constitution’ (Memorandum  
and Articles of Association) in respect of each Group company.  Deloitte Ireland also assisted in  
the ongoing application to Revenue for charitable status for companies within Prosper Group.

Board of Directors

Executive Management Overview

Board Committees

Position Name

Chairperson Conor Sparks

Secretary Mary Dowling

Vice-Chair Noel Hickey

Board Member Dr Mary Murphy

Board Member Kitty O’Connor

Board Member Mary Walsh

Board Member Shay Smyth

Board Member John Delany

Committee Board Members Invited Members

Quality  
and Risk

Dr Mary Murphy 
(Chair)
Kitty O’Connor

Dr John O’Connell

Emer Dowling

Nominations
Shay Smyth (Chair)
Conor Sparks

Paula Carey

Michael Shanley 

Remuneration
Mary Dowling (Chair)
John Delany
Shay Smyth

Aideen Quinn

Paul Ledwidge 

Finance  
and Assets

Noel Hickey (Chair)
Dr Mary Murphy

Donal Delaney

Eamon Bolger 

Chief Executive Officer 

Executive Management 
(Shared)

- Human Resources
- Finance
- Quality
- Clinical

Other Shared Services
- I.T.
- Health & Safety

Operations  
Manager   

Meath

Operations  
Manager  

Fingal
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Prosper Fingal  
Client Ages 2015

Prosper Meath  
Client Ages 2015

Prosper Fingal Prosper Meath Total

No. of Clients 281 184 465

No. of WTE Posts 107.58 57.61 165.19

No. of Locations
12 (8 Day,  
2 Residential,  
2 Respite)

10 (9 Day,  
1 Residential) 22

No. in Residential 
Service 10 residents 1 resident 11

No. of Respite Beds

(i)  7 beds per  
        night x 7 nights

(ii) 5 beds per  
        night x 5 nights

0 12

Budget Allocation €7,298,891 €3,197,110  €10,496,001

Support Level Prosper Fingal Prosper Meath Total

Level 1 – Minimum 1 : 10 60 48 108

Level 2 – Low 1 : 6 – 1 : 9 92 41 133

Level 3 – Moderate 1 : 4 – 1 : 5 68 34 102

Level 4 – High 1 : 2 – 1 : 3 47 36 83

Level 5 – Intensive 1 : 1 14 25 39

Total 281 184 465

The following provides key statistics relating to service provision in  

Prosper Fingal and Prosper Meath:
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Prosper Fingal  
Client by Day Service 2015

Prosper Meath  
Client by Day Service 2015

Prosper Fingal  
Client by Gender 2015

Prosper Meath 
Client by Gender 2015

Balbriggan

Howth

Piercetown

Portmarnock

Rush

Skerries

Seatown Road

North Street

Ashbourne

Beechmount

Canon Row

High St. Trim

Kells -
Climber Hall

Kells -
Farrell Street

Leighsbrook

NEO

Trim -
Maudlins

10
10

20
58

48
18

56
61

9
35

32
8

30
14

23
14

19

Balbriggan

Howth

Piercetown

Portmarnock

Rush

Skerries

Seatown Road

North Street

Ashbourne

Beechmount

Canon Row

High St. Trim

Kells -
Climber Hall

Kells -
Farrell Street

Leighsbrook

NEO

Trim -
Maudlins

10
10

20
58

48
18

56
61

9
35

32
8

30
14

23
14

19

Female

128
Male

153

Female

94
Male

90

Female

128
Male

153

Female

94
Male

90



12|Prosper Group Annual Report 2015

Balbriggan x 2

Kells x 2

Trim x 2

Navan x 5

Skerries x 2

Ashbourne

City

Rush x 3

Portmarnock

Howth

Swords x 2

Balrothery

Fingal



Prosper Group Annual Report 2015|13

Prosper Fingal Overview

1. Personal Planning 14

2. Service Provision 14 

3. Client Comments, Compliments & Complaints 18

4. Quality and Standards 18

5. Internal Audit Process 19

6. National Safeguarding Policy 19

7. HSE Service Arrangement 20

8. Finance 20

9. Capital Investment 21

10. Human Resources (HR) 22

11. Health and Safety 23

12. Communications 24

13. Parent/Family Forum 25

14. Other - Acknowledgements 25

Contents    Page



14|Prosper Group Annual Report 2015

 1.0    PERSONAL PLANNING

Personal Planning is an organisational process, 
which builds a picture of each service user’s life, 
in order to (1) pursue goals that are important 
to the person and (2) set out how to meet the 
person’s assessed needs through the provision of 
practical and essential supports.  This is achieved 
through the development of a Person Centred 
Plan (PCP) and an Individual Support Plan (ISP).  
Personal Planning underpins the successful 
delivery of person-centred Day, Residential 
and Respite service provision.  It challenges 
traditional group-based responses to the desires 
and needs of individuals and pushes service 
delivery into community settings, local to where 
people live.

By the end of 2014, in Prosper Fingal, service users 
were actively being facilitated to develop PCPs. In 2015 
the primary focus was on ensuring the PCP process 
was fully understood and implemented correctly, and 
comprehensively, across Fingal. The secondary focus was on 
enhancing our understanding of the ISP process and taking 
practical steps to advance this part of the project. 

An audit of PCP was undertaken to review and report on 
the status of PCP. The audit provided direction on what 
was working well and where improvements were required.  
Arising from the audit, a plan of work consisting of ten 
actions was developed.  Significantly, this included the 
delivery of Initial and Refresher PCP training to staff and 
devising a review process for the PCP.

In relation to ISP, our understanding of support planning 
was much advanced.  Categories of support were identified 
and signed off, agreement on how the ISP can be captured 
in the new Service User File format was reached and 
considerable work was undertaken on preparing the Shared 
Client Database to record ISP data.  In addition, agreement 
was reached on how Personal Planning should be delivered 
in the Respite Service to meet HIQA compliance in this area.

 2.0     SERVICE PROVISION

2.1 Day Services

Prosper Fingal’s primary service provision continues to be 
in the area of Day Services.  By year end, there were 281 
individuals availing of Day Service supports. 

Our Day Service provision continues in the direction of 
greater community engagement and independence for the 
individual.  This is not without challenge as, while it creates 
new opportunities, it also presents new risks.  Families and 
carers value the goals of community inclusion and active 
citizenship, but worry about the ongoing security of a ‘9 to 4’ 
traditional Day Service.  

Issues around resourcing have come to the fore once again 
this year.  We have an ageing client population and more 
complex referrals seeking a service.  Both demand specific 
expertise and appropriate resourcing.  Notwithstanding the 
above, we can acknowledge progress within the Company in 
our models of Day Service which have become much more 
person centred year on year.  

Prosper Fingal Overview
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Service Reconfiguration

Prosper Fingal’s Day Service provision was reviewed in light 
of the HSE New Directions policy.  That policy sets out a 
commitment to provide services that are local to where 
the person lives to the greatest extent possible.  Towards 
this end, a number of actions were undertaken by the 
organisation over the year.  These included:

 A ‘Mapping’ exercise to establish exactly where each 
individual resides

 A review of transport commitments and arrangements

	 An	examination	of	attendance	to	the	different	Day	
Services

	 Identification	of	practices	that	are	working	well	in	
outreach supports

 Examining the resource allocation to each service and  
its location

The outcome of this exercise informs future planning in 
relation to capital investment, recruitment, staff training, 
resourcing and model/s of service provision.  

Rehabilitative Training (RT)

The number of people applying to Prosper Fingal who 
have the capacity to follow a formal QQI Level II training 
programme has decreased year on year.

Over 2015, the QQI registration requirements to provide 
certified programmes changed. Prosper Fingal did not 
consider it appropriate to continue with this increased level 
of investment and so withdrew from the QQI certification 
process for all new learners from September 2015.  
The HSE was notified accordingly.

The training modules continued to be delivered to the 
learners who had already commenced the programme, 
 i.e. 16 learners to the end of the 2014/15 academic year  
and 14 at the beginning of the 2015/16 academic year.

2.2 Residential Service and Residential Respite 
Service

Residential Service

Prosper Fingal provides residential services from a HIQA 
registered centre to 10 residents.  This centre has two 
locations, Seal Cove House in Rush and Knock Cross House 
in Balrothery.  This service operates 52 weeks a year, seven 
days per week.

Residential Respite Service

Residential Respite is provided from two HIQA registered 
centres, Cherrygarth House in Balbriggan, which has seven 
beds and Lambay House in Rush, with five beds. Cherrygarth 
House is a nurse-lead service for those with higher support 
needs while Lambay House provides residential respite 
for those with lower support needs and works to foster 
independent living skills.  

The demand for Residential Respite is high and the total 
provision over 2015 was as follows:

House No. of Bed Nights No. of Clients

Cherrygarth 2227 88

Lambay 1103 75

Total 3330 163

HIQA Inspections

A monitoring inspection of the Residential Service took place 
in March 2015, which was part of the formal registration 
process.  The inspection was based on 18 Outcomes and 
Prosper Fingal was found to be Compliant in relation to  
16 Outcomes and Substantially Compliant on 2 Outcomes.  
This excellent result will lead to formal registration. The 
registration process is currently ongoing.
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National Lottery Funding 2015

Prosper Fingal once again applied for and received a 
National Lottery Respite Grant in 2015.  This funding was 
shared amongst the Day Services in order to provide 
respite breaks to individuals who do not normally have 
the opportunity or resources to avail of such activities.  
Approximately 112 people took part in the trips and 
activities that were organised, many of which facilitated  
the individuals concerned to be more independent or  
to try something completely new. 

2.3 Clinical Services

As resources in the Primary Care services for adults 
continue to diminish and more service users require 
specialist interventions to support issues around mental 
health, autism and dementia, the Prosper Fingal Clinical 
Team endeavours to respond to the additional demands. 
We recognise that when our facilities are at full capacity,  
and the mix of service users within them is not optimum, 
this places a strain on many individuals, in particular on their 
coping abilities.  We are also seeing much more complicated 
home situations that need significant levels of intervention.  
These issues and concerns have been highlighted to  
the HSE.  

In 2015, the Prosper Fingal Clinical Team consisted of Social 
Work, Speech and Language Therapy (SLT) and Occupational 
Therapy (OT). We continued to contract in the expertise of  
psychology, physiotherapy, ophthalmology and chiropody. 
In addition, we had the support of a dietician and the HSE 
specialist dental team provided an annual check-up to 
service users.  All service users have an equal opportunity  
to avail of the services of any of our clinicians, both internally 
and those contracted as required. 

The following is a breakdown of the number of service users 
and the clinical supports they availed of in 2015:

Clinical Support No. of individuals supported 

Social Work 192

SLT 150

OT 137

Psychiatry   50

Psychology   52

Physiotherapy   19

Ophthalmology 121

Chiropody   68

Dentistry   88

Dietician As required

Social Work

Supports and training were provided in Advocacy, 
Safeguarding, ‘Safe and Social’, Loss and Bereavement, 
Relationships and Sexuality and Mental Health.  Supports 
and training were also provided in relation to parenting 
(some service users are parents and support includes 
liaising with schools, crèches, community welfare officers 
and statutory services for child protection), the ‘Baby Bonnie’ 
programme, issues of alcohol and substance abuse, housing 
issues with the Council and with landlords and hospital 
appointments.  Social Workers also play a significant part 
in the admissions process through their role as Admission 
Co-ordinators. 

Speech and Language Therapy

SLTs provided therapy and training in different areas 
across all services.  Training included Lámh, FEDS (Feeding, 
Eating, Drinking & Swallowing), ‘Safe and Social’ and Positive 
Behaviour Support.  Workshops were delivered to parents 
on topics they identified as being important to them. 
Training was given to frontline staff on ‘Total Communication’ 
in advance of the PCP training.  Dementia Assessments 
continued across the organisation with those service users 
identified as most likely to be in need.  Collaborative work 
and joint training commenced across the Prosper Group.

Prosper Fingal Overview, Continued
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Occupational Therapy

The OTs carried out assessments in services, service users’ 
homes and in the community.  These included assessments 
in travel and road safety, self-care, personal and intimate 
care, motor skills, cookery skills, postural management, 
wheelchairs, seating and transfers (using weights, slings, 
hoists and stairs).  Equipment was sourced and housing 
grants applied for on behalf of individuals/families.  Joint 
work was undertaken with external specialists, including  
the Central Remedial Clinic.

Psychiatry

Prosper Fingal has a close, collaborative relationship with 
the expert psychiatric services of St. Joseph’s ID Services.  
Approximately 50 service users are routinely seen by the 
consultant psychiatrists and/or specialist nurses at the 
clinics.  This number is increasing as more service users 
develop mental health concerns, particularly around anxiety.  
Prosper Fingal greatly appreciates the respite services 
provided by St. Josephs to many of our service users with 
additional needs. 

Physiotherapy

Requests for assessment and ongoing treatment are 
broad-ranging and varied and cover both independent and 
dependent service users.  Therapy is routinely provided 
to some service users with particularly complex physical 
requirements.  Assessments, treatments and follow-up 
exercise programmes were conducted jointly with the OT 
and frontline staff.  Joint work was undertaken with hospital 
physiotherapists.

Psychology

The psychologist worked with 52 service users, many of 
whom received individual support in response to specific 
requests from staff and/or family.  Standard formal 
assessments were carried out in terms of cognitive capacity.  
Assessments were conducted in relation to autistic spectrum 
disorder and dementia.  Staff received training around 
behaviour that challenges and positive behaviour support 
plans.

Ophthalmology

The profile and increasing needs of our ageing population 
meant there was an increase in the number seeking 
assessment and support for ophthalmology.  Follow-on 
treatment was supported by the Consultant Ophthalmologist 
at the Mater Hospital. 

Chiropody

Chiropody clinics are held in different services supported by 
Day Service staff.  This year 68 service users availed of the 
clinics across the Company.

Dentistry

The HSE Specialist Dental team assessed 88 service users 
and follow-up appointments were offered through the Local 
Health Centres as required. 

Dietician

The dietician continues to support a number of service users 
across a number of services on an individual basis. This is as 
requested and required.

2.4 Transport Service

In 2015, 38 people were transported to and from their Day 
Service using a combination of our formal Transport Service, 
local Day Service and Residential Service vehicles.  

The criteria to access Prosper Fingal’s Transport Service 
is very strict and, even allowing for these criteria, it is not 
possible to expand this service without additional and 
ring-fenced State investment.  A review is being carried out 
on the future of the Transport Service, particularly in view 
of the huge cost of maintenance/replacement of vehicles.  
The reconfiguration of Day Services, i.e. being more local 
to where people live, will also affect the requirement for 
transport provision going forward.  
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 3.0     CLIENT COMMENTS, COMPLIMENTS 
           & COMPLAINTS

Prosper Fingal’s formal complaints process allows 
service users and/or their advocates to make a 
complaint verbally or in writing.  This can be 
by telephone, letter, fax, email or in person. All 
complaints are dealt with according to Company 
policy which has been endorsed by the HSE.  The 
Company’s Complaints Officer returns complaints 
to the HSE Dublin North Consumer Affairs 
Division on a bi-annual basis.

In 2015, 13 complaints were received across Prosper Fingal.  
Nine of these complaints were dealt with informally at the 
point of contact and were resolved within 30 days.  There 
were two formal written complaints, both of which were also 
resolved informally.  Two complaints were withdrawn. 

There were 105 positive feedback comments about Prosper 
Fingal recorded in 2015.

 4.0    QUALITY & STANDARDS

The Quality & Standards (Q&S) function supports 
the quality assurance and improvement process 
across the organisation.  This ranges from 
leading specific projects to involvement on 
various working groups and in the preparation, 
presentation and review of reports, documents, 
applications, programmes and systems.

Work carried out in 2015 included:

 Carrying out a full review of the Company policy 
development process in order to improve accessibility 
of	policy	for	staff	and	to	address	compliance	actions	
raised by HIQA following inspections. This resulted 
in a revised policy template and the introduction of 
‘Standard Operating Procedures’.

	 Reviewing	five	existing	policies,	including	re-drafting	
into the new policy template and the development of 
one new policy on ‘Restrictive Procedures’.		In	addition,	a	
policy on ‘Managing and Safeguarding Residents’ Finances’ 

was implemented in the Residential and Respite 
Services.  The HSE’s national policy ‘Safeguarding 
Vulnerable	Persons	at	Risk	of	Abuse’	was	also	
implemented across the organisation.

	 Co-ordinating	the	Personal	Planning	project	which	
included	conducting	an	organisation-wide	PCP	audit	
and	disseminating	the	audit	findings,	devising	a	PCP	
review	process,	creating	an	outcome	measurement	
tool,	collecting	examples	of	good	practice,	reviewing	
and	updating	the	initial	PCP	training,	developing	
the PCP refresher training and delivering on both of 
these.		It	also	included	reporting	on	the	status	of	ISP,	
signing	off	on	the	ISP	Themes,	working	on	the	Personal	
Planning requirements for the Prosper Fingal Shared 
Client	Database	and	refining	how	Personal	Planning	
is delivered in the Respite Service to meet HIQA 
compliance in this area.

 Preparing and supporting Prosper Fingal Residential 
staff	through	the	HIQA	inspection	process	(March	2015)	
in	terms	of	files,	documentation,	records	and	practices.		
This extended to agreeing an action plan towards 
addressing	identified	non-compliances.

	Developing	and	implementing	a	new	process	for	
gathering	feedback	from	respite	service	users,	including	
a standard operating procedure and documentation.

	Overseeing	the	inputting	of	the	majority	of	the	Prosper	
Fingal ‘Person Overview Forms’ onto the Shared Client 
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Database	and	assisting	with	the	future	design	of	the	
database version of this Form.  

	Developing	a	new	‘Personal	File’	for	each	service	
user availing of Prosper Fingal services and the 
commissioning of a professional photograph of each 
person.		Central	to	this	was	ensuring	the	files	were	
standardised,	streamlined	with	Prosper	Meath	and,	
most	importantly,	fit	for	purpose.		

	Designing	and	implementing	an	‘Internal	Audit’	process	
and	paperwork	from	mid-year.	Further	detail	in	 
section	5.0.

 Supporting the introduction of the Prosper Board 
Committee	structure,	including	drafting	of	a	Terms	of	
Reference for each and providing secretarial support to 
one Committee. 

 5.0     INTERNAL AUDIT PROCESS

In June 2015 a new quality initiative – internal 
auditing of services – was introduced in Prosper 
Fingal. Internal auditing has been identified as 
an element of good corporate governance and a 
requirement in the HSE Service Arrangement and 
HIQA compliance. Additionally, internal auditing 
has been identified as a vehicle by which to 
prepare staff for external audits; most notably 
unannounced HIQA inspections within the 
Residential and Residential Respite Services.

It was agreed that audits would commence in the Residential 
and Residential Respite Services followed by Day Services.  
Four areas for audit were identified: (1) Personal Planning 
and (2) Records and Documentation both audited by 
Q&S, (3) Finance audited by the Company Accountant 
and (4) Health & Safety audited by the Company Safety 
Officer.  Each auditor was required to develop their own 
audit tool.  They had to ensure that integral to the audit 
tools were questions for staff to help them become more 
familiar with the audit process and to check staff level of 
knowledge.  In addition, auditors were required to speak 
to a representation of service users on site during an audit 
to ascertain their view on the quality of the service they 
received in relation to the area being audited.  

Q&S were given the remit to manage this process.  In this 
capacity Q&S initially facilitated working group and auditor 
meetings by which to agree the internal auditing process, 
oversaw the development of audit tools and co-ordinated 
unannounced audits.  As the process developed Q&S 
continued to facilitate auditor meetings, devised and 
maintained a database of audit specifics, developed a 
generic Audit Report template and liaised with the Director 
of Services to ensure sign off of Audit Reports before 
dissemination to the service audited.  The different stages 
of the process were continually being refined until year end, 
based on learning and experience.

In relation to the Audit Report, auditors were required 
to produce individual reports for each audit undertaken.  
Every Audit Report included a Quality Improvement Plan 
with actions for the service to follow through on in order to 
comply with standards/regulations or to improve the quality 
of service delivery.  Auditors were responsible for monitoring 
that the actions recorded in the Quality Improvement 
Plans were being progressed.  In 2015, ten audits were 
undertaken by the team in Prosper Fingal.

 6.0     NATIONAL SAFEGUARDING POLICY

A new national policy on the protection of 
vulnerable people, ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable 
Persons at Risk of Abuse’, was developed by the 
HSE Social Care Division and published on 5th 
December 2014.

In January 2015, it was agreed that this new national policy 

would replace the existing Prosper Policy and Procedures 
for the Prevention of Abuse, Neglect, Mistreatment and 
Exploitation of Service Users, including the Management of 
Allegations, of Abuse, Neglect, Mistreatment and Exploitation 
of Service Users. During the year members of Prosper’s 

management and clinical staff attended a HSE briefing session 

and training sessions on this new policy. In Prosper, the Clinical 

Manager was responsible for implementing the new policy 

across Prosper Fingal. An internal briefing document on the 

policy was drafted and circulated to all staff and in-house 

training was delivered in October to frontline staff in Fingal. In 

December 2015, Mr Pat Healy, National Director of Social Care, 

identified the Safeguarding Policy as a priority policy for 2016 

for all service providers to comply with.
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 7.0    HSE SERVICE ARRANGEMENT

The 2015 HSE Service Arrangement was signed 
off on 25th September 2015.  This service 
arrangement between Prosper Fingal and the 
HSE provides a level of certainty in relation to 
our obligations in service provision and our 
relationship with the HSE.  

 8.0    FINANCE

8.1 Summary 

As set out in the financial statements, Prosper Fingal has 
generated a modest surplus on ordinary activities for the year 
ended 31st December 2015.

The difficult economic environment within which the 
Company has operated since 2008 now appears to be 
coming to an end.  In support of this view, the full-year effect 
of the “Cost Containment Initiative” reduction in funding in 
2014 was not imposed by the HSE in the allocation for 2015.  
It is also important to say that there have been no other cuts 
to funding in 2015.

Prosper Fingal has benefited from an increase in Section 39 
funding when compared with 2014.  An allocation of 11 day 
places, with effect from September 2015, totalling €75,000 
has been secured.  In a new departure, the HSE now allocates 
funding to service users on an individualised basis according 
to need rather than at a fixed rate per place, which was the 
case in previous years.  “Once off” capital funding of €80,000 
was also obtained to help advance the new capital projects 
in Swords and Balbriggan.  The HSE committed to increasing 
our base budget by €50,000 to finance ongoing lease/rent 
associated with the new local Day Service in Swords when 
operational.  Monies to fund additional costs related to staff 
“sleepovers” have also been secured.  

In relation to funding for HSE Rehabilitative Training in 2015, 
there has been no change in either the annual rate per place 
of €13,430 or in the weekly rate of Training Bonus, €31.80, 
when compared with 2014.  

Prosper Fingal was successful in securing a National Lottery 
Respite Care Grant of €8,000 from the HSE which was 

used to provide a number of holiday away group breaks for 
service users.  Although this Grant is significantly less than 
the equivalent figure for 2014, €15,000, the outcome of the 
application process, when the number of applicants is taken 
into account, is considered satisfactory.

Voluntary contributions in respect of the Residential Respite 
Service have increased from approximately €38,000 in 2014 
to just over €41,000 in 2015.  This income has remained in 
line with expectations.

8.2 Financial Management 

Throughout 2015, the Finance Department has continued 
the task of ensuring that expenditure is effectively controlled 
in order to match available revenues.  As in previous years, 
the now well-established budgeting system has been used 
effectively to accomplish this task using clearly defined 
formats, strict reporting deadlines and a detailed system of 
ongoing review.

In addition to the formulation of both revenue and 
expenditure budgets and the production of variance 
reports, the “Finance Handbook for Prosper Fingal Staff” 
continues to remain an integral part of this budgeting 
system as it provides detailed guidance to both managers 
and staff.  The content of the Finance Handbook is 
kept under constant review in order to ensure both 
relevance and adherence to best practice.  The ongoing 
implementation of the procedures, as set out in the Finance 
Handbook, by Company staff is closely monitored by the 
Finance Department.  
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Over 2015, the Company developed an internal finance 
audit system.  

In order to effectively match revenue and expenditure, 
a number of strategies continue to be applied by the 
Company, which include:

	Negotiation	of	flexible	contracts	of	employment	with	
staff

	Short-term	renting	of	properties	rather	than	purchase

 Extended outsourcing of buildings maintenance and 
cleaning services

 Extended outsourcing of IT services

 Outsourcing of specialist clinical supports

	Ongoing	examination	and	review	of	key	expenditure	
headings

8.3 Merger with Prosper Meath (formerly 
MIDWAY Limited – Management Accounting 
and Systems Development)

Throughout 2015, the Finance Department has continued to 
both develop and align the accounting and payroll functions 
of Prosper Fingal and Prosper Meath.  This undertaking 
comprises a review of the systems, software and operating 
procedures in each organisation.  Both multi-company and 
single company reporting is now in place.

 9.0    CAPITAL INVESTMENT

9.1 The Lodge, 102 Drogheda Street, Balbriggan

Following a competitive tendering process appointment of 
building contractors was agreed in early 2015.  Construction 
commenced in August 2015 and by year end the project was 
well advanced.  This new local hub will be made operational 
in 2016.

9.2 Seatown Road

There was significant repair works carried out to the 
Seatown Road facility as part of an overall programme of 
works required.  Annually, for the next number of years, 
we will have to set aside a dedicated budget to address 
the critical defects to the building due to its design and 
construction.  

9.3 The Obelisk, Skerries

In August 2015 Prosper Fingal acquired an excellent 
property in the centre of Skerries town to help advance and 
increase services to this catchment area.  This is especially 
important as the Skerries Day Service is under severe 
pressure due to the number of clients being supported and 
their level of need.  Plans for the development of the Obelisk 
will commence in 2016.

9.4 Town Centre Mall, Swords

The School/RT Leaver process in 2015 placed enormous 
strains on Prosper Fingal due to the lack of physical capacity 
to welcome new admissions.  We allocated significant time 
and resources to seek out and secure additional premises 
specifically for this demand.  There is a worrying shortage of 
appropriate facilities in the Fingal towns where we are under 
the most pressure i.e. Swords, Malahide, Howth and Lusk.  
This issue was made known to, and accepted by, the HSE.  

As a short term response, a premises was leased (term 4 
years 9 months) in late November 2015 at Nos. 17/18/19 
The Mall, Swords.  Extensive renovations had to be carried 
out to make the facility appropriate to our needs.  This 
capital project, due to the time constraints and lack of 
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alternative options, proved to be extremely expensive and, 
in the long term, not good value for money.  However, the 
renovation work is of high quality and the location of the 
service is ideal.  This new town-centre hub will be ready to 
open in January 2016.  

9.5 Capital Concerns

The difficulty in securing any premises leading up to the 
Mall project highlighted the capacity issues in 2015; Dublin 
North has been identified by the HSE as a region that has 
serious deficits in relation to lack of physical capacity.  This 
is compounded by the high cost of purchase/lease.  We are 
aware that this will be a recurring difficulty each year without 
proper and planned investment, particularly in long-term 
facilities.  The combination of new demand and changing 
needs of existing clients within our services creates huge 
tensions.  It is 2006 since the last capital allocations were 
made by the Government to develop new facilities.  With 
the growing population in Fingal, we are one of the regions 
most affected by this lack of investment.  Over 2015 we met 
with the HSE, Fingal County Council, Estate Agents and local 
property owners to explore this issue.  We are dependent 
on our revenue funding to essentially fund our capital 
needs, be it through rents or mortgages.  The impact of 
this measure is a corresponding reduction in resourcing for 
frontline services.  

 10.0 HUMAN RESOURCES (HR)

The HR function remains an integral element 
in securing and retaining a professional, highly 
skilled, focused and enthusiastic workforce.  
The HR function faced many difficulties to recruit 
and retain such a workforce in 2015.  

10.1  Recruitment and Retention 

The ability to recruit and retain competent staff continues 
to be a significant challenge as our terms and conditions do 
not compete with other providers.  Over 2015, there have 
been many instances of potential recruits being offered 
permanent, pensionable jobs in the HSE and section 38 
agencies at the same time as receiving a job offer from 

Prosper Fingal, but without the same conditions.  There is a 
serious supply and demand issue in this region particularly 
for skilled professionals and it is an employees’ market with 
the number of employment options available.  This matter 
is acknowledged at Board level as a serious issue in the 
recruitment and retention of staff.  The Board Remuneration 
Committee is examining this as a matter of priority as it is an 
immediate risk to our current and future service provision.

10.2  Sick Leave

There was an increase on previous years in sick leave levels 
with 17 staff having over 10% of sick leave.  When staff who 
are off payroll are factored in, the average sick leave rate at 
year end was 3.65%. 

10.3  Employee Assistance Programme (EAP)

The Company continues to offer an EAP to all staff.  There 
was no staff usage of this programme in 2015. 

10.4  New Group Structure

The shared HR services to MIDWAY which operated in 2013 
and 2014 became a core part of the HR remit in 2015 due to 
the formation of the Prosper Group structure.  In 2015, the 
HR function had to support both Prosper Fingal and Prosper 
Meath.  The workload generated by an additional 57.61 
whole time equivalent posts placed significant pressure on 
the HR function.  
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10.5  Student Placements, Community 
Employment (CE) Placements, Volunteers 
and Education & Training Board (ETB) hours

The time required to facilitate student, CE and volunteer 
placements and ETB teaching staff was reduced in 2015 to 
focus on other priorities.  The benefits gained from these 
additional human resources is significant, notwithstanding 
the difficulties of keeping these resources in place.

10.6  Staffing Levels and Activity

The following is a summary of staffing levels and other HR 
activity for 2015:

	Our	HSE	Service	Arrangement	2015	provided	for	
102.67	Whole	Time	Equivalent	(WTE)	posts	excluding	
development	funding	for	school	leavers	and	staff	
required.  

	 At	year	end	there	were	93	staff	on	contracts	of	
indefinite	duration,	31	staff	on	fixed	term	contracts	and	
20	sessional	staff.	

	 There	were	24	new	recruits,	26	staff	left	the	Company	
and	13	transferred	from	one	service	to	another.

	 The	Company’s	County	Dublin	ETB	teaching	hours	
programme	continued	and	provided	great	benefit	to	
the	organisation	by	way	of	1,470	hours.	

10.7  Staff Training and Education

	 A	total	of	124	staff	took	part	in	594	days	training.	 
The	average	number	of	days	training	per	staff	member	
was	4.79.		

	 The	total	cost	of	staff	training	was	€157,255	(€38,455	
on courses and €118,800	on	salaries).	This	equates	 
to	2.15%	of	our	overall	budget.

 11.0  HEALTH AND SAFETY

As the organisation grows in scale and services 
become more complex, managing H&S remains 
increasingly difficult.  Reduced staff numbers 
(relative to client numbers and needs), continuous 
and significant budget cuts since 2008 and 
buildings at full capacity compound this situation.  
The introduction of HIQA, with its strong focus on 
safety, has placed increased concentration on H&S 
policies, practices and oversight.  The Company 
Safety Officer is responsible for overseeing and 
managing H&S in the Prosper Group.  

The Prosper Safety Statement and various policies and 
procedures for risk management were prioritised for review 
in 2015.  The re-drafted Prosper Safety Statement and 
Prosper Risk Management Policy were re-issued in 2015.  
Implementation of both commenced in late 2015 and will 
continue into 2016.  The Company’s Food Safety system and 
Cleaning Manual continued to give direction to staff and 
help ensure that a safe and standardised approach  
was applied.

Unannounced H&S audits commenced in July 2015 in the 
Residential and Residential Respite Services.  

11.1  Health & Safety Records 2015

In 2015, 666 accidents/incidents, medication errors and 
behaviour that challenges events were reported in Prosper 
Fingal.  These involved a mix of service users, staff, members 
of the public and others.  There has been a significant 
increase in accidents/incidents in 2015 and this can be 
explained by increased reporting of more minor events. 
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Behaviour that challenges accounted for 76% (507) of 
events reported in 2015.  These primarily involved verbal 
or attempted physical assault either by a service user on 
another service user or on a staff member.  Several of the 
incidents were severe in nature, taking some time to de-
escalate and having the potential to result in serious injury 
or distress.  8% (52) of events reported related to slip/trip/
fall type events and 6% (40) related to medication errors.  
Most of the medication errors related to events outside of 
Prosper’s control such as errors on returning from home 
visits, pharmacy errors or refusal to take medication. 

Accident / Incidents, Behaviour that Challenges  
and Medication Errors / Incidents Reported 2015

BEHAVOUR THAT 
CHALLENGES

SLIP / TRIP / FALL

MEDICATION ERROR 
 / INCIDENT

OTHER

BURNS / SCALDS

ROAD SAFETY

MOTOR TRAFFIC 
COLLISION / INCIDENT

STRUCK BY OBJECT

SHARPS - CUT / 
LACERATION

507
52
40
25
13

9
7
7
6

Health & Safety Training for the year was as follows:

	 53	staff	trained	in	Positive	Behaviour	Support	

	 37	staff	trained	in	Manual	/	People	Handling

	49	staff	trained	in	First	Aid

	28	staff	trained	in	Medication	Management

	25	staff	trained	in	administration	of	Buccal	Midazolam

	32	staff	trained	in	Driving	and	Safe	Transport

	 46	staff	trained	as	Fire	Wardens	

	 41	staff	trained	in	FEDS	

	 26	staff	trained	in	Lone	Working

	08	staff	trained	in	Prevention	of	Abuse

	50	staff	trained	in	Safeguarding	Awareness	

	 25	staff	trained	in	Food	Safety	and	Hygiene

	45	staff	trained	in	Health	and	Safety	Awareness	

	 69	staff	trained	in	Prosper	Safety	Statement	and	
Prosper	Risk	Management	Policy	

11.2  Premises Review Template

The suitability of Prosper premises arose as an area of 
concern during the due diligence process in Prosper Meath.  
It was felt that a standard method by which to determine 
whether or not a premises could meet service users’ needs 
was required.  Therefore, during 2015 a Premises Review 
Template was developed to measure core premises criteria 
so that each premises can be assessed as being ‘fit for 
purpose’ or ‘not fit for purpose’.  This allows for prioritisation 
of investment in, or replacement of, premises that are 
deemed not to meet service user needs.  With the changing 
needs of clients and the scale of new demand, it is essential 
that we have a more informed approach in how we acquire 
and/or develop new service locations.  

 12.0  COMMUNICATIONS

12.1  Shared Client Database

Work continued on the Prosper Fingal Management 
Information System/Shared Client Database during 2015.  
All services now have access to the system and Managers 
and Administrators are verifying/updating core client 
information.  The system’s capacity to record personal 
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planning data was reviewed and it is intended to have 
personal planning data uploaded to the system in 2016.

Updates to the Company’s Intranet have continued in line 
with service demands.

12.2  Information Technology 

The rollout of e-fibre continued in 2015.  All sites that qualify 
for e-fibre are now upgraded, giving them substantially better 
communications speed.  It is intended to look at alternatives 
to e-fibre for sites where it is not available during 2016.  All 
Windows XP machines have been de-commissioned.  There 
is still a number of 2003 Servers to be de-commissioned in 
2016. Work is underway to facilitate this.

 13.0  PARENT/FAMILY FORUM

Prosper Fingal continues to engage in a positive 
way with families through regular meetings of 
the Prosper Fingal Parent/Family Forum. Three 
family members – two parents and a sibling as 
agreed by the Forum – direct the meetings and 
agendas which are structured around parent/
family members’ priorities and national disability 
issues.  As this is an open forum, families are 
encouraged to contact the representatives 
directly to have their concerns put on the 
agenda.

The Prosper Fingal Parent/Family Forum has many 
purposes, namely:

	 To	seek	and	share	information

 To create a platform that enables the voice of the carer 
to be heard 

	 To	build	appreciation	and	understanding	on	policy,	
organisational needs and issues

	 To	create	a	network	of	support	and	advocacy

	To	build	a	strong	working	relationship	with	the	
management	and	staff

	To	contribute	to	the	well-being	of	the	organisation

In 2015, three meetings of the Forum were held in February, 
June and October.  One of the key actions of the Forum 
was to conduct a survey of all families with regard to the 
need for residential placement into the future.  This survey 
was carried out in the last quarter of the year and the key 
findings were as follows:

 Parents and carers are an ageing population

 Service users are also ageing and with that comes 
changing needs

	 74	families	need	residential	care	within	the	next	ten	
years	(and	38	of	these	are	currently	in	a	crisis	situation)

 Families are seriously concerned about the 
sustainability of their current living arrangements

 Investment in future residential homes must be a 
priority for the Government and HSE

It is hoped to use the information gathered to help influence 
future parent and family discussions with local and national 
elected representatives and the HSE.

 14.0  OTHER – ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

At the Prosper Fingal Limited Annual General Meeting held 
on 27th July 2015, three long-standing Board members 
retired – Mary Grimes (Company Secretary), Pauline Cronin 
and Michael Gorman.  Between them, they have given 
over 72 years of continuous contribution to the growth 
and development of Prosper Fingal.  Prosper Fingal would 
like to acknowledge the outstanding work of these retiring 
Directors over the years.    
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 1.0  PERSONAL PLANNING

MIDWAY Services did have a Personal Planning 
process in place prior to the merger with 
Prosper Fingal.  This process ensured that some 
individualised work was taking place across 
the organisation.  In 2015, the focus was on 
beginning to find out about the existing Personal 
Planning process in the new Prosper Meath and 
how it may align with the process already well 
established in Prosper Fingal.  

 2.0   SERVICE PROVISION

2.1 Day Service 

Essentially, Prosper Meath is a Day Service provider with 
184 clients being supported by year end.  As identified 
in the merger Due Diligence process, MIDWAY Services 
had declined on many fronts due to the extraordinary 
levels of budget cuts experienced.  As a result, the newly 
formed Prosper Meath had to engage in a root and branch 
examination of the Company.  The impact of the austerity 
measures was a lack of operational procedures, systems 
and confidence.  In 2015, in a bid to limit further decline, 
we commenced alignment of Prosper Meath policies and 
procedures with Prosper Fingal’s, and introduced some 
essential operational procedures.  This is an on-going 
process which will continue into 2016.  

Prosper Meath developed a new local Day Service in High 
Street, Ashbourne to support people from that general area.  
This measure will signpost the way forward to more localised 
provision to where people live and their natural community.  

2.2 Residential Service

Prosper Meath has one residential place which operates  
out of Teach Íta, Navan, Co. Meath.  We have commenced  
a range of measures to register this facility  
with HIQA.

2.3 Clinical Services

Up to June 2015, the Clinical Team comprised of Speech 
and Language Therapy (SLT), Occupational Therapy (OT) 
and Clinical Psychology.  In June 2015, a Social Worker was 
recruited and appointed to the team.  Service users have an 
equal opportunity to avail of the services of any member of 
the Prosper Meath Clinical Team.

The clinicians improved the accessibility of the clinical 
services to all service users by creating an accessible referral 
form and information leaflets on each department.  They 
worked together to deliver supports in the area of dementia 
baseline assessments, ‘Safe and Social’ programmes, 
school leaver assessments and the mental health group.  In 
addition an Admissions Procedure for school leavers was 
established.  The team liaised with colleagues in Prosper 
Fingal to develop services and ensure consistency and 
standards across the Group.  Positive working relationships 
continued to be developed with the families of service users, 
with colleagues in HSE Meath Adult Disability team and 
residential service providers such as Clannmor, RehabCare, 
Praxis and St Michael’s House.  The following table provides 
a breakdown of the clinical supports provided and numbers 
of service users availing of them:

Specialist Support No. of individuals supported

Social Work 40

SLT 70

OT 49

Psychology 43

Prosper Meath Overview
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Speech and Language Therapy

SLT provided assessment and intervention in the areas 
of Feeding, Eating, Drinking and Swallowing (FEDS), 
Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC), 
Dementia Baseline and Positive Behaviour Support. Training 
was delivered to staff including Lámh, Boardmaker and 
communication workshops.  Communication standards were 
established across Day Services.  SLT liaised with colleagues 
on the HSE Meath Adult Disability team as appropriate and 
as requested.  

Social Work

The social work service, commenced in June 2015, focused 
on getting to know service users, families, staff and outside 
agencies; in particular the HSE.  Supports provided included 
Future Planning, Home Support applications, grants and 
entitlements, bereavement support, personal care and 
relationships.  Social Work also completed group work 
alongside SLT and OT and was involved in Safeguarding 
Practices and training. 

Occupational Therapy

OT provided assessment and intervention in the areas 
of road safety, travel training, meal preparation, personal 
care, aids and equipment, sensory modulation, postural 
management and seating/wheelchair provision and 
accessibility.  Accessible information leaflets were developed 
for service users to enable them to understand the role of 
the OT and how to access services.  The OT worked closely 
with psychology and SLT to support families and staff 
working with individuals with behaviours that challenge.  
Close liaison with the HSE OT helped provide equipment for 
Prosper Meath service users.

Psychology

Psychological supports were provided in the areas of clinical 
assessment, counselling, dementia baseline and positive 
behaviour support.  Training was provided to staff in the 
areas of safeguarding, lone working and complaints. The 
clinical psychologist was consulted in the development of 
Admissions, Risk Management and Restrictive Practice policies, 
in addition to liaising with the HSE in relation to school 
leavers and new referrals.  

2.4 Transport Service

Over 2015 concerns were raised about the complexity and 
over-reliance on HSE funded and/or provided transport 
services.  Historically, transport runs are in place that are 
not efficient and work against national policy in relation to 
community services.  We have large numbers of service 
users leaving or by-passing their local towns to receive 
services in other towns, particularly Navan.  An initial scoping 
exercise was completed in 2015 which informed Prosper 
Meath that this matter needs to be looked at in much more 
detail.  Transport provision must be considered in light of 
any future capital development plans, the model of service 
provision to the individual and our relationship with parents 
and carers.  This task will be progressed in 2016, ideally in 
partnership with HSE Meath.   

2.5 Dundalk Institute of Technology (DKIT)

Prosper Meath currently supports five individuals on the 
DKIT Certificate in Skills for Independent Living (SILS) course 
2015-2017.  This is a two year course which operates 
two days per week from September to May.  Successful 
candidates must complete a numeracy and literacy 
examination and an interview with a Steering Committee.  
One member of staff supports the five individuals and 
offers classroom assistance and supervision throughout the 
day.  Prosper Meath also contributes towards the cost of 
transport for the five service users from Navan to Dundalk.
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 3.0  CLIENT COMMENTS, COMPLIMENTS  
  & COMPLAINTS

Prosper Meath’s formal complaints process allows 
service users and/or their advocates to make a 
complaint verbally or in writing.  This can be by 
telephone, letter, fax, email or in person.  All 
complaints are dealt with according to Company 
policy which reflects HSE requirements.  The 
Company’s Complaints officer returns complaints 
to HSE Meath on a bi-annual basis.

In 2015 no complaints were received across Prosper Meath.  

 4.0  QUALITY & STANDARDS

The Quality & Standards (Q&S) function supports 
the quality assurance and improvement process 
across the organisation.  This ranges from 
leading specific projects to involvement on 
various working groups and in the preparation, 
presentation and review of reports, documents, 
applications, programmes and systems.

Work carried out in 2015 included:

 Clarifying what policies and procedures are in place 
in	Prosper	Meath	(implemented	by	MIDWAY	Services)	
followed by review of each and comparison with those 

in Prosper Fingal. This was to assist with the alignment 
of practices across both companies when developing 
new,	or	reviewing,	existing	policies.

	Briefing	Prosper	Meath	staff	on	the	new	Company	
policy	development	process,	policy	template	and	
standard operating procedures.

	Drafting	and	implementation	of	‘Admissions Criteria’ for 
Prosper	Meath	in	early	2015.	This	was	followed	by	the	
review and charting of the existing admission process 
in Meath with a view to aligning it with Prosper Fingal’s 
process as much as possible over the coming year.

 Implementing three policies – Prosper Safety Statement, 
Risk Management and Medication Management – across 
the	organisation.	Each	service	received	a	briefing	and	
the relevant Safety folders and documents from the 
Company	Safety	Officer	by	year	end.		Local	briefing	
sessions	on	Risk	Management	commenced	with	similar	
sessions on Medication Management scheduled for 
early	January	2016.

 Circulating a new policy on Restrictive Procedures 
to	a	number	of	Prosper	Meath	staff	for	review	and	
comment,	prior	to	finalising	for	Board	approval	in	 
early	2016.

	 Implementing	a	standardised	‘Accident	/	Incident	Report	
Form’ and the ‘Behaviour that Challenges Incident 
Report Form’ across the organisation.

	 Auditing	Prosper	Meath’s	Residential	Service	(Teach	Íta)	
against the HIQA standards and regulations and putting 
in	place	an	initial	work	plan	to	enhance	various	aspects	
of service provision.  This included the development 
and implementation of a new ‘Personal File’ for the 
resident	and	filing	system	for	the	service.

	Assisting	with	the	Teach	Íta	registration	application	to	
HIQA.		This	included	working	with	the	residential	staff	
to develop and implement a ‘Statement of Purpose’ for 
Teach	Íta.

 Overseeing the development of a ‘Person Overview 
Form’ for each service user supported by Prosper 
Meath.

Prosper Meath Overview, Continued
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	 Carrying	out	a	review	of	all	files,	filing	systems	and	
records held in each Prosper Meath service.  This 
led to the development of a new ‘Personal File’ for 
each service user supported by Prosper Meath and 
the commissioning of a professional photograph of 
each	person.		Central	to	this	was	ensuring	the	files	
were	standardised	in	terms	of	structure	and	content,	
streamlined	with	Prosper	Fingal	and,	most	importantly,	
fit	for	purpose.

 Supporting the introduction of the Prosper Board 
Committee	structure,	including	drafting	of	a	‘Terms	of	
Reference’ for each and providing secretarial support to 
one Committee. 

 5.0  NATIONAL SAFEGUARDING POLICY

A new national policy on the protection of 
vulnerable people, ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable 
Persons at Risk of Abuse’, was developed by  
the HSE Social Care Division and published  
on 5th December 2014.

In January 2015, it was agreed that this new national policy 

would replace the existing MIDWAY Policy and Procedures 
for the Protection of Adults from Abuse and Neglect. During 

the year members of Prosper’s management and clinical staff 

attended a HSE briefing session and training sessions on this 

new policy. In Prosper, the Clinical Manager was responsible for 

implementing the new policy across Prosper Meath. An internal 

briefing document on the policy was drafted and circulated to 

all staff and in-house training will be delivered to frontline staff 

in Meath in January 2016. In December 2015, Mr Pat Healy, 

National Director of Social Care, identified the Safeguarding 

Policy as a priority policy for 2016 for all service providers to 

comply with.

 6.0  HSE SERVICE ARRANGEMENT

The 2015 HSE Service Arrangement was signed off on 
25th September 2015.  This service arrangement between 
Prosper Meath and the HSE provides a level of certainty 
in relation to our obligations in service provision and our 
relationship with the HSE.  

 7.0  FINANCE

7.1 Summary

As set out in the financial statements, Prosper Meath has 
generated a surplus on ordinary activities for the year ended 
31st December 2015.

The difficult funding environment within which the Company 
has operated since 2008 now appears to be coming to an 
end.  It is also important to note that there have been no 
cuts to funding in 2015.

Prosper Meath has benefited from an increase in Section 
39 funding when compared with 2014.  This increase 
mainly comprises the full-year effect of the allocation of 
three day places in 2014, an allocation of five new day 
places, with effect from September 2015, together with 
the reinstatement of historical funding reductions by HSE 
Meath.  Monies to fund additional costs related to staff 
“sleepovers” were also secured in 2015.

There has been no significant change in relation to training 
monies and training allowances provided by the Department 
of Education when compared with 2014.
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7.2 Financial Management

Throughout 2015, the Finance Department has continued 
the task of ensuring that expenditure is effectively controlled 
in order to match available revenues.  The budgeting system 
that has been used in Prosper Fingal for a number of years 
was introduced in Prosper Meath in 2015.  This system 
utilises clearly defined formats, strict reporting deadlines 
and applies a detailed system of ongoing review.

As is the case in Prosper Fingal, a number of strategies  
have been applied by the Company in 2015 and include:

	Negotiation	of	flexible	contracts	of	employment	with	
staff

	Short-term	renting	of	properties	rather	than	purchase

 Outsourcing of buildings maintenance

 Outsourcing of IT services

 Outsourcing of specialist clinical supports

	Ongoing	examination	and	review	of	key	expenditure	
headings

 8.0  CAPITAL INVESTMENT

8.1 High Street, Ashbourne

A 2-year Licence Agreement commenced from 1st 
December 2014 (at €17,000 per annum) and Day Service 
commenced in 2015. 

8.2 High Street, Trim

A 2-year Lease commenced from 1st February 2015 (at 
€15,000 per annum).  Day Service commenced in 2015.

8.3 Premises Assessment Template

As noted previously, the assessment of the suitability of 
Prosper premises arose as an area of concern during the 
due diligence process in Prosper Meath.  In the final half 
of 2015, as explained above, a premises assessment tool 
was developed to allow premises to be rated as ‘fit for 
purpose’ or ‘not fit for purpose’. During the development of 
the template, architects and civil engineers were consulted.  
Similar tools developed by the NHS (UK) were considered.  

The tool developed allows for a rating to be assigned 
to a premises by assessing the premises across 10 key 
categories:

1.	 Ownership/control	of	premises

2.	 Running	cost	e.g.	heat,	electricity,	transport,	
maintenance 

3.	 Annual	lease/rental/mortgage	costs

4.	 Service	user	experience,	for	example	availability	of	
space for private meetings and group activities

5.	 Safety

6.	 State	of	repair	of	the	building	

7.	 Facilities	and	welfare	arrangements	that	suit	the	needs	
of service users

8.	 Location/transport	links;	the	key	concern	here	
is whether the location of the service promotes 
independent access to surrounding community

Prosper Meath Overview, Continued
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9. Accessibility 

10.	Planning	documentation	and	fire	safety	certificate	
availability 

Trialling of the assessment tool began in Prosper Meath in 
2015.  The intention is to complete assessments in Prosper 
Meath by the end of Quarter 1, 2016 with a view to moving 
onto Prosper Fingal following this.  

 9.0  HUMAN RESOURCES (HR)

2015 is the first year where HR shared services 
were formally introduced to Prosper Meath.  
Prior to this the Prosper Fingal HR function gave 
informal support to the organisation.   

9.1 Recruitment and Retention 

Recruitment and retention of high calibre staff within a 
highly competitive market began to present challenges for 
Prosper Meath in 2015.  As in Fingal, the greater buying 
power of the HSE and Section 38 agencies alongside their 
ability to offer long term employment has made it difficult 
to compete in the open market.  The inability to match the 
terms and conditions of public sector and section 38 agency 
employees makes it increasingly difficult to attract and retain 
the highest calibre of staff.  This matter is recognised at 
Board level as a serious challenge in both our recruitment 
and retention of staff over 2015 and must be addressed in 
the near future if the organisation is to succeed.

9.2 Sick Leave

2015 was the first year that records were maintained of sick 
leave within the organisation.  The sick leave rate for 2015 
was 3.48%. 

9.3 Employee Assistance Programme (EAP)

The Company continues to offer an EAP to all staff.  There 
was no staff usage in 2015 from quite a high usage of 13  
in 2014. 

9.4 Student Placements, Community 
Employment (CE) Placements and Volunteers

Other priorities resulted in less focus being given to 
the management of student and CE placements and 
volunteering in 2015. The benefits gained from these 
additional human resources is great despite the work 
involved in keeping these systems in place.

9.5 Staffing Levels and Activity

Staffing consisted of 57.11 Whole Time Equivalent (WTE) 
posts as per the HSE Service Arrangement submission, 
excluding development funding for school leavers and staff 
required.

9.6 Staff Training and Education

	 A	total	of	60	staff	took	part	in	216	days	training.	The	
average	number	of	days	training	per	staff	member	was	
3.55.		

	 The	total	cost	of	staff	training	was	€58,929	(€15,729	
on courses and €43,200	on	salaries).		This	equates	to	
1.84%	of	our	overall	budget.

	 Three	staff	are	being	supported	financially	to	undertake	
a	Higher	Education	Training	Awards	Council	(HETAC)	
certified	qualification.	
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 10.0   HEALTH AND SAFETY

H&S was one of the key areas targeted for 
development in Prosper Meath in 2015. As 
the organisation grows in scale and services 
become more complex, managing H&S will be an 
increasing challenge.  As in Fingal, reduced staff 
numbers (relative to client numbers and needs), 
continuous and significant budget cuts since 
2008 and buildings at full capacity compound 
this situation.  The Company Safety Officer is 
responsible for overseeing and managing H&S  
in Prosper Meath.  

Some existing MIDWAY health and safety-related policies 
were replaced by the re-drafted Prosper Safety Statement 
and the Prosper Risk Management Policy in 2015.  
Implementation of both commenced in late 2015 and  
will continue into 2016. 

H&S audits commenced in 2015 in the Residential and 
Day Services in Prosper Meath.  The aim of these was to 
ensure compliance with H&S requirements and to identify 
key areas for improvement across Prosper Meath.  As a 
result, work commenced on introducing food safety and 
cleaning systems to provide direction to staff on safe and 
standardised practices.  All services have also implemented 
required fire safety equipment inspections and maintenance 
routines. 

In 2015 standard forms were introduced in Prosper Meath 
for reporting accidents/incidents and behaviours that 
challenge.  This had led to improved reporting rates and 
records.

10.1 Health & Safety Records 2015

In 2015, 128 accidents/incidents and behaviour that 
challenges events were reported in Prosper Meath.  These 
involved a mix of service users, staff, members of the public 
and others.  70% (90) of events reported in 2015 related to 
behaviour that challenges.  These primarily involved verbal 
or attempted physical assault either by a service user on 
another service user or on a staff member.  Several of the 
incidents were severe in nature, taking some time to de-
escalate and having the potential to result in serious injury 
or distress.  12% (15) of the accidents/incidents reported 
related to slip/trip/fall type events. 

Accident / Incidents and Behaviour that Challenges 
Reported 2015

BEHAVOUR THAT 
CHALLENGES

SLIP / TRIP / FALL

OTHER

90
15
23
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Health and Safety training for the year was as follows:

	 49	staff	trained	in	Positive	Behaviour	Support	(TCI)

	 18	staff	trained	in	Manual	/	People	Handling

	10	staff	trained	in	First	Aid

	2	staff	trained	in	Medication	Management

	6	staff	trained	in	administration	of	Buccal	Midazolam

	5	staff	trained	in	Driving	and	Safe	Transport

	 5	staff	trained	as	Fire	Wardens	

	 5	staff	trained	in	FEDS	

	 6	staff	trained	in	Lone	Working

	1	staff	trained	in	Safeguarding	Awareness	

	 6	staff	trained	in	Food	Safety	and	Hygiene

	42	staff	trained	in	the	Prosper	Safety	Statement

 11.0  COMMUNICATIONS

11.1 Information Technology

All sites are now linked to the corporate WAN and PC 
upgrades/replacements have been completed.  We have 
commenced rolling out on-line backups for each site and will 
continue with this process in 2016.

Where available, internet connections have been upgraded 
to e-fibre providing substantially better communications 
links.

New sites in Ashbourne and Trim have been commissioned 
and now have access to the corporate WAN.

 12.0  OTHER – ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Kathleen Carpenter, a service user who attended the Kells 
Climber Hall service, sadly passed away on 4th November 
2015.  She had been ill for several months and was in and 
out of hospital before her death. We extend our sympathies 
to her family.

Edith Kennedy departed as Director of Services of Prosper 
Meath (formally of MIDWAY) in September 2015. She had 
worked in MIDWAY since 2000 and led the organisation 
through some very difficult times.  She was central to the 
formation of the merger and subsequently the new Prosper 
Group structure.  

The last Annual General Meeting of the old Board of 
MIDWAY was convened on 14th September 2015. Three 
Directors of MIDWAY became Board Directors of Prosper 
Meath.  
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.  

Principal Activity and Review of the Business
The company is a non-statutory provider of services to adults with an intellectual disability in the Fingal area of County Dublin 
and is a registered charity (CHY 11458). 

The Company is limited by guarantee not having a share capital. 

There has been no significant change in these activities during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
In common with many companies operating in the disability services sector the company faces the following  
principal risks - 

 increasing staffing, operational and compliance costs

 responding to increased and changing needs of both clients and carers

 staff recruitment and retention in the greater Fingal and Meath areas is a challenge

 lack of capital expenditure by the State leads to additional operational and health and safety risks

 attracting suitably qualified and committed board members 

 the nature of funding from the HSE (Health Service Executive) which is on an annual basis - it is not set and permanent

The directors are of the opinion that the company is well positioned to manage these costs and challenges on an ongoing 
basis.

Financial Results
The surplus for the year after providing for depreciation amounted to €36,231 (2014 - €199,737).   

At the end of the year the company has assets of €10,824,012 (2014 - €10,977,517) and liabilities of €5,465,404 (2014 - 
€5,655,140). The net assets of the company have increased by €36,231.

Directors and Secretary
The directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, were as follows:

Conor Sparks 
Mary Dowling 
Dr. Mary Murphy 
Kitty O’Connor 
Seamus Smyth 
John Delany (Appointed 27 July 2015) 

Noel Hickey (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Mary Walsh (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Mary Grimes (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Pauline Cronin (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Michael Gorman (Resigned 28 October 2015)

The secretaries who served during the year were;     
Mary Dowling (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Mary Grimes (Resigned 28 October 2015)   

Future Developments
The company plans to continue its present activities and current trading levels. Employees are kept as fully informed as 
practicable about developments within the business.   

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Post Balance Sheet Events
On 1st January 2016 Prosper Social Care Services Limited - trading as Prosper Group became the parent company of Prosper 
Fingal Limited.  

Auditors
OMAC Management Services Limited t/a W.O.McGrory & Company, (Certified Public Accountants), were appointed auditors by 
the directors to fill the casual vacancy and they have expressed their willingness to continue in office in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 383(2) of the Companies Act, 2014.

Dempsey Mullen resigned as auditors during the year and the directors appointed OMAC Management Services Limited t/a 
W.O.McGrory & Company, (Certified Public Accountants), to fill the vacancy.  

Accounting Records
To ensure that adequate accounting records are kept in accordance with Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014, 
the directors have employed appropriately qualified accounting personnel and have maintained appropriate computerised 
accounting systems. The accounting records are located at the company’s office at Strand Street, Skerries, Co.Dublin.

Signed on behalf of the board

Conor Sparks  
Director 
27 September 2016   

Mary Dowling 
Director 
27 September 2016 

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
Irish law and regulations.  

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Under company 
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at the financial year end date and of the surplus or deficit of the 
company for the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	for	the	company	financial	statements	and	then	apply	them	consistently;

	make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;

	 state	whether	the	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	applicable	accounting	standards,	
identify	those	standards,	and	note	the	effect	and	the	reasons	for	any	material	departure	from	those	standards;	and

	prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	company	
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
surplus or deficit of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be audited. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for  
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Signed on behalf of the board

Conor Sparks  
Director 
27 September 2016   

Mary Dowling 
Director 
27 September 2016 

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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We have audited the financial statements of Prosper Fingal Limited for the year ended 31 December 2015 which comprise 
the Income and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the Reconciliation of Members’ Funds, the Cash Flow Statement, 
the Accounting Policies and the related notes. The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise comply with the Companies 
Act 2014. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practice Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Directors’ Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

 give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31 December 2015 and of its 
results for the year then ended; and

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and, in particular, the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014
 We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
 In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and 

properly audited.
 The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.
 In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made.

Paul Farrell 
for and on behalf of 
OMAC MANAGEMENT SERVICES LIMITED T/A W.O.MCGRORY & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
Carlington Lodge, Dublin Road, Drogheda, Co. Louth, A92 Y38R

27 September 2016

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the Members of Prosper Social Care Services Limited
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Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Income 5  7,298,891   7,177,892  

Expenditure   (7,258,263) (7,113,726)

Operating surplus 6  40,628   64,166  

Exceptional items 7  -   142,685  

Surplus on ordinary activities before interest   40,628   206,851  

Interest receivable and similar income 8  1   1   
Interest payable and similar charges 9  (4,398) (7,115)

Total Comprehensive Income   36,231   199,737  

 
The company has no recognised gains or losses other than the surplus for the year. The results for the year have been 
calculated on the historical cost basis. The company’s income and expenses all relate to continuing operations.

Approved by the board on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Conor Sparks  
Director 

Mary Dowling 
Director 
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Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Fixed Assets 
Tangible assets 11  10,492,384   10,250,077  

Current Assets 
Debtors 12  266,435   164,152   
Cash and cash equivalents   65,193   563,288  

   331,628   727,440  

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 13  (790,155) (708,716)

Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets   (458,527) 18,724

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities   10,033,857 10, 268,801    

Creditors 
Amounts falling due after more than one year 14  (198,543) (342,310)

Capital grants 17  (4,476,706) (4,604,114)

Net Assets   5,358,608   5,322,377  

Reserves 
Capital reserves and funds 19  824,248   824,248   
Income and expenditure account   4,534,360   4,498,129  

Members’ Funds   5,358,608   5,322,377  

Approved by the board on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Conor Sparks  
Director 

Mary Dowling 
Director 
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Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

RECONCILIATION OF MEMBERS’ FUNDS
as at 31 December 2015

  Retained Special Total 
  surplus reserve 

  € € €

At 1 January 2014  4,298,392   824,248   5,122,640  

Surplus for the year  199,737   -   199,737  

At 31 December 2014  4,498,129   824,248   5,322,377  

Surplus for the year  36,231   -   36,231  

At 31 December 2015  4,534,360   824,248   5,358,608  
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Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Cash flows from operating activities 
Surplus for the year   36,231  199,737   
Adjustments for: 
Exceptional items   -   (142,685) 
Interest receivable and similar income   (1) (1) 
Interest payable and similar charges   4,398   7,115   
Depreciation   466,470   442,907   
Amortisation of HSE capital grants   (127,408) (127,949) 
Exceptional items   -   142,685  

   379,690   521,809 
Movements in working capital: 
Movement in debtors   (102,283) 46,560   
Movement in creditors   88,080   3,117  

Cash generated from operations   365,487   571,486   
Interest paid   (4,398) (7,115)

Net cash generated from operating activities   361,089   564,371  

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received   1   1   
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets   (708,777) (95,404) 
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets   -   10,807  

Net cash used in investment activities   (708,776) (84,596)

Cash flows from financing activities 
New long term loan   (133,684) (132,451) 
New short term loan   -   1,519   
Capital element of finance lease contracts   (19,306) 6,052   
Capital grants   -   10,000  

Net cash used in financing activities   (152,990) (114,880)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (500,677) 364,895   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   563,025   198,130  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 23  62,348   563,025  
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
 Prosper Fingal Limited is a company limited by guarantee incorporated in the Republic of Ireland. Strand Street, Skerries, 

Co.Dublin is the registered office, which is also the principal place of business of the company. The nature of the 
company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report. The financial statements have been 
presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional currency of the company.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in 

relation to the company’s financial statements.

 Statement of compliance
 The financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared on the going 

concern basis and in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” (FRS 102). These are the company’s first set of financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS 102. There 
have been no transitional adjustments made.

 Basis of preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with the historical cost 

convention except for certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, 
as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for assets. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 
2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council.

 Income
 The company receives the majority of its income from the Health Service Executive (HSE).

 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
 Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. The charge to depreciation is 

calculated to write off the original cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their 
expected useful lives as follows:

  Land and buildings freehold - 2% Straight line

  Long leasehold property - 2% Straight line

  Machinery and equipment - 20% Straight Line

  Fixtures and fittings - 20% Straight Line

  Motor vehicles - 25% Straight Line

 The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed annually for impairment if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

 Leasing and Hire Purchases
 Tangible fixed assets held under leasing and hire purchase arrangements which transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the company are capitalised and included in the Balance Sheet at their cost or valuation, less 
depreciation. The corresponding commitments are recorded as liabilities. Payments in respect of these obligations are 
treated as consisting of capital and interest elements, with interest charged to the Income and Expenditure Account. 

 Trade and other debtors
 Trade and other debtors are recognised at fair value.

 Borrowing costs
 All borrowing costs are recognised in the income and expenditure account in the period in which they are incurred. 

 Trade and other creditors
 Trade and other creditors are recognised at fair value.

 Employee benefits
 The company makes deductions from employee salaries to a defined pension contribution scheme. The assets of the 

scheme are held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund operated by Prosper 
Fingal Limited Retirement and Death Benefits Plan.

 The company also operates medical insurance and permanent health insurance schemes.

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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 Taxation
 The company is registered as a charity with the Revenue Commissioners and is therefore exempt from corporation tax. 

 Capital grants
 Capital grants received and receivable are treated as deferred income and amortised to the Income and Expenditure 

Account annually over the useful economic life of the asset to which they relate. Revenue grants are credited to the 
Income and Expenditure Account when received.  

 Pensions
 The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for employees. The assets of the scheme are held 

separately from those of the company. Annual contributions payable to the company’s pension scheme are charged to 
the Income and Expenditure Account in the period to which they relate.

3. ADOPTION OF FRS 102
 This is the first set of financial statements prepared by Prosper Fingal Limited in accordance with accounting standards 

issued by the Financial Reporting Council, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The company transitioned from previously extant Irish and UK GAAP to FRS 102 as at  
1 January 2014.

4. DEPARTURE FROM COMPANIES ACT 2014 PRESENTATION
 The directors have elected to present an Income and Expenditure Account instead of a Profit and Loss Account in these 

financial statements as this company is a not-for-profit entity.

5. INCOME
 The income for the year has been derived from:-
    2015   2014   
    € €

 HSE - Section 39   6,710,048   6,520,822   
 HSE - Rehabilitative Training   380,861   393,170   
 HSE - National Lottery Respite Care Grant   8,000   40,000   
 HSE - Training Allowance   23,036   35,147   
 Residential Respite - voluntary contributions   41,319   38,455   
 Other operating income   135,627   150,298  

    7,298,891   7,177,892  

 Other operating income includes amortisation of capital grants and sundry donations received.

 The whole of the company’s income is attributable to its market in the Republic of Ireland and is derived from the principal 
activity of provision of services to adults with an intellectual disability in the Fingal area of County Dublin.

6. OPERATING SURPLUS
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting): 
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   466,470   442,907   
 Amortisation of capital grants   (127,408) (127,949)

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015



Prosper Group Annual Report 2015|49

7. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Committed donations   -   142,685  

 Other operating income
 These donations were received on the strict condition that they were to be applied towards the capital cost of buildings 

and motor vehicles.

8. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Bank interest   1   1    

9. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES
   2015   2014   
   € €

 On bank loan, overdraft and hire purchase   4,398   7,115    

10. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
 Number of employees
 The average number of persons employed (including executive directors) during the year was as follows:

    2015   2014   
    Number Number

 Front line and support staff - less than €65,000   128   124   
 Salary band €65,000 to €70,000   2   2   
 Salary band €70,001 to €80,000   2   3   
 Salary band €80,001 to €90,000   1   -   
 Salary band €90,001 to €100,000   2   1   
 Salary band €120,001 to €130,000   1   1  

    136   131  

   2015   2014   
   € €
 The staff costs comprise:  

 Wages and salaries   4,423,254   4,411,208   
 Social welfare costs   474,714   430,093   
 Pension costs   239,205   274,598

    5,137,173   5,115,899   

 The above salary bands include pay, employee pension contributions and benefits in kind where applicable.
 The Chief Executive Officer received remuneration and short term benefits as follows: - taxable pay €114,473, medical 

insurance of €1,588 and employee pension contributions of €9,403 during the year.
 Key management compensation including salaries and other short term employee benefits totalled €688,756 during the 

year (2014 - €727,638).
 The directors do not receive any remuneration or expenses for their services provided as board members of the 

company.

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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11. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

  Land and Long Machinery  Fixtures Motor Total 
  buildings leasehold and and vehicles  
  freehold property equipment fittings

  €   €   €   €   €   €  

 Cost 
 At 1 January 2015 10,296,707   1,977,879   1,309,129 477,020   631,896   14,692,631  
 Additions 678,138   -   30,639   -   -   708,777  

 At 31 December 2015 10,974,845   1,977,879   1,339,768   477,020   631,896   15,401,408  

 Depreciation 
 At 1 January 2015 1,946,205   513,853   1,114,562   383,396   484,538   4,442,554   
 Charge for the year 219,496   39,558   109,120   31,098   67,198   466,470  

 At 31 December 2015 2,165,701   553,411   1,223,682   414,494   551,736   4,909,024  

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2015 8,809,144   1,424,468   116,086   62,526   80,160   10,492,384  

 At 31 December 2014 8,350,502   1,464,026   194,567   93,624   147,358   10,250,077  

11.1. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS PRIOR YEAR

  Land and Long Machinery  Fixtures Motor Total 
  buildings leasehold and and vehicles  
  freehold property equipment fittings

  €   €   €   €   €   €  

 Cost
 At 1 January 2014 10,275,126   1,977,879   1,272,046   475,396   622,176   14,622,623  
 Additions 21,581   -   37,083   1,624   51,860   112,148  
 Disposals -   -   -   -   (42,140) (42,140)

 At 31 December 2014 10,296,707   1,977,879   1,309,129   477,020   631,896   14,692,631  

 Depreciation 
 At 1 January 2014 1,740,270   474,296   1,015,443   352,298   448,673   4,030,980  
 Charge for the year 205,935   39,557   99,119   31,098   67,198   442,907   
 On disposals -   -   -   -   (31,333) (31,333)

 At 31 December 2014 1,946,205   513,853   1,114,562   383,396   484,538   4,442,554  

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2014 8,350,502   1,464,026   194,567   93,624   147,358   10,250,077  

 At 31 December 2013 8,534,856   1,503,583   256,603   123,098   173,503   10,591,643  

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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12. DEBTORS
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Trade debtors   115,439   -   
 Other debtors   42,198   83,319   
 Prepayments and accrued income   108,798   80,833  

    266,435   164,152  

13. CREDITORS
 Amounts falling due within one year   2015   2014   
    € €

 Bank overdrafts   2,845   263   
 Bank loan   130,932   130,932   
 Net obligations under finance leases 
 and hire purchase contracts   13,274   22,497   
 Trade creditors   278,839   185,124   
 Taxation  (Note 15)   140,189   154,706   
 Other creditors   32,919   5,808 
 Accruals   191,157   209,386  

    790,155   708,716  

 Bank loans are secured by fixed charges over the company’s properties at:

 Cherrygarth House, Drogheda Street, Balbriggan, Co. Dublin. 
Seatown Road, Swords, Co. Dublin. 
Doctor’s Lane, Rush, Co. Dublin.

14. CREDITORS
 Amounts falling due after more than one year   2015   2014   
    € €

 Bank loan   178,371   312,055  
 Finance leases and hire purchase contracts   20,172   30,255  

    198,543 342,310

 Bank loan and credit card balance due. 
 Repayable in one year or less, or on demand (Note 13)   133,777   131,195   
 Repayable between one and two years   130,932   130,932   
 Repayable between two and five years   47,439   181,123  

    312,148   443,250  

 Net obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 
 Repayable within one year   13,274   22,497   
 Repayable between one and five years   20,172   30,255  

    33,446   52,752  

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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15. TAXATION
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Creditors: 
 PAYE   140,189   154,706  

 This represents PAYE, PRSI and USC due to the Revenue Commissioners.

16. PENSION COSTS - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION
 Pension costs amounted to €239,205 (2014 - €274,598 )

17. CAPITAL GRANTS
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Capital grants received and receivable 
 At 1 January 2015   4,732,063   4,722,063  
 Increase in year   -   10,000

 At 31 December 2015   4,732,063   4,732,063  

 Amortisation 
 At 1 January 2015   (127,949) -   
 Amortised in year   (127,408) (127,949)

 At 31 December 2015   (255,357) (127,949)

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2015   4,476,706   4,604,114  

 At 1 January 2015   4,604,114   4,722,063  

 Capital grants are secured on the property of the company. No grants were received during the year.

18. STATUS
 The liability of the members is limited.

 Every member of the company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of its being wound 
up while they are members, or within one year thereafter, for the payment of the debts and liabilities of the company 
contracted before they ceased to be members, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and for the 
adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves, such amount as may be required, not exceeding € 1.27.

19. RESERVES
 Special Reserve
 Special reserve relates to transfers in prior years from Fingal Association for the Handicapped of subvention, motor 

vehicles and title to property. 

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
 The company had no material capital commitments at the year-ended 31 December 2015.

     

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 Conor Sparks is a member of the Board of Directors. He is a partner in Gerrard L. McGowan, solicitors who were engaged 

during the period to provide legal advisory services. The value of these services was €6,908.

 During the year the company shared certain administrative costs with Prosper Meath Limited - a related company by 
virtue of having common directors. The value of these transactions in the year represented a charge from Prosper Fingal 
Limited to Prosper Meath Limited of €86,227.

 Seamus Smyth and Kitty O’Connor are members of the Board of Directors and are directors of Portmarnock Arch Club 
Limited. During the year Portmarnock Arch Club Limited received a total of €28,501 from the company for provision of 
shared services and expenses.

22. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
 On 1st January 2016 Prosper Social Care Services Limited - trading as Prosper Group became the parent company of 

Prosper Fingal Limited.

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Cash and bank balances   65,193   563,288   
 Bank overdrafts   (2,845) (263)

    62,348   563,025  

24. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2016.

Prosper Fingal Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.  

Principal Activity and Review of the Business
The company is a provider of residential accommodation to adults with an intellectual disability in the Fingal area of County 
Dublin and is a registered charity (CHY 17998).

The Company is limited by guarantee not having a share capital.

There has been no significant change in these activities during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The directors have identified the key risks to the Company’s business as follows -

Funding risk
The Company mitigates this risk by continuously reviewing it’s scale of operations in the context of available resources.

Internal control risk
There is a risk that the company’s transactions may not be appropriately authorised. This risk is minimised by the 
implementation of procedures for the formal approval of all transactions.

Financial risk management 
The Company’s operations expose it to financial risk which includes liquidity risk. In order to minimise this risk, the Company 
maintains sufficient funds to meet it’s obligations as they fall due.

Financial Results
The surplus for the year after providing for depreciation amounted to €10,452 (2014 - €6,029).

At the end of the year the company has assets of €1,002,806 (2014 - €995,135) and liabilities of €168,877 (2014 - €171,658). 
The net assets of the company have increased by €10,452.

Directors and Secretary
The directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, were as follows:

Conor Sparks 
Dr. Mary Murphy 
Mary Dowling 
Seamus Smyth 
Kitty O’Connor 
John Delany (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Noel Hickey (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Mary Walsh (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Pauline Cronin (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Michael Gorman (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Mary Grimes (Resigned 28 October 2015)

The secretaries who served during the year were; 
Mary Dowling (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Mary Grimes (Resigned 28 October 2015)

Future Developments
The company plans to continue its present activities and current trading levels. Employees are kept as fully informed as 
practicable about developments within the business.

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Post Balance Sheet Events
On 1st January 2016 Prosper Social Care Services Limited - trading as Prosper Group became the parent company of Prosper 
Fingal Housing Association Limited.

Auditors
Dempsey Mullen Registered Auditors resigned as auditors during the year and the directors appointed OMAC Management 
Services Limited t/a W.O.McGrory & Company, (Certified Public Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm), to fill the vacancy.

Accounting Records
To ensure that adequate accounting records are kept in accordance with Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014, 
the directors have employed appropriately qualified accounting personnel and have maintained appropriate computerised 
accounting systems. The accounting records are located at the company’s office at Strand Street, Skerries, Co. Dublin..

    

Signed on behalf of the board

Conor Sparks  
Director 
27 September 2016 

Mary Dowling 
Director 
27 September 2016 
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
Irish law and regulations. 

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promulgated 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the 
company as at the financial year end date and of the surplus or deficit of the company for the financial year and otherwise 
comply with the Companies Act 2014. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	for	the	company	financial	statements	and	then	apply	them	consistently;

	make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;

	 state	whether	the	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	applicable	accounting	standards,	
identify	those	standards,	and	note	the	effect	and	the	reasons	for	any	material	departure	from	those	standards;	and

	prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	company	
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and surplus or deficit of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be 
audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Signed on behalf of the board

Conor Sparks  
Director 
27 September 2016   

Mary Dowling 
Director 
27 September 2016 

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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We have audited the financial statements of Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited for the year ended 31 December 2015 
which comprise the Income and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the Reconciliation of Members’ Funds, the Cash Flow 
Statement, the Accounting Policies and the related notes. The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise comply with the Companies 
Act 2014. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practice Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes 
an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Directors’ Report 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we 
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	assets,	liabilities	and	financial	position	of	the	company	as	at	31	December	2015	and	of	its	
results	for	the	year	then	ended;	and

 have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	relevant	financial	reporting	framework	and,	in	particular,	the	
requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014
 We	have	obtained	all	the	information	and	explanations	which	we	consider	necessary	for	the	purposes	of	our	audit.
 In	our	opinion	the	accounting	records	of	the	company	were	sufficient	to	permit	the	financial	statements	to	be	readily	and	
properly audited.

 The	financial	statements	are	in	agreement	with	the	accounting	records.
 In	our	opinion	the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	Report	is	consistent	with	the	financial	statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made.

Paul Farrell 
for and on behalf of 
OMAC MANAGEMENT SERVICES LIMITED T/A W.O.MCGRORY & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
Carlington Lodge, Dublin Road, Drogheda, Co. Louth, A92 Y38R

27 September 2016

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the Members of Prosper Fingal Estates Limited
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Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Income 5  56,861   56,259

Expenditure   (46,409) (50,230)

Total Comprehensive Income   10,452   6,029  

   
The company has no recognised gains or losses other than the surplus for the year. The results for the year have been 
calculated on the historical cost basis. The company’s income and expenses all relate to continuing operations.

Approved by the board on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Conor Sparks  
Director 

Mary Dowling 
Director 
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   2015   2014  
 Notes  €   €  

FixedAssets 
Tangible assets 7  952,146 973,504  

Current Assets 
Debtors 8  2,133   2,121   
Cash and cash equivalents   48,527   19,510  

   50,660   21,631  

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 9  (32,629) (32,629)

Net Current Assets/(Liabilities)   18,031   (10,998)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities   970,177   962,506  

Capital grants 10  (136,248) (139,029)

Net Assets   833,929   823,477  

Reserves 
Capital reserves and funds 12  725,000   725,000   
Income and expenditure account   108,929   98,477  

Members’ Funds   833,929   823,477  

Approved by the board on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Conor Sparks  
Director 

Mary Dowling 
Director 

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 December 2015



Prosper Group Annual Report 2015|63

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

RECONCILIATION OF MEMBERS’ FUNDS 
as at 31 December 2015

  Retained Special Total
  surplus reserve

  €   €   €  

At 1 January 2014  92,448   725,000   817,448  

Surplus for the year  6,029   -   6,029  

At 31 December 2014  98,477   725,000   823,477  

Surplus for the year  10,452   -   10,452  

At 31 December 2015  108,929   725,000   833,929  
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Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Cash flows from operating activities 
Surplus for the year   10,452   6,029   
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation   23,855   23,356   
Amortisation of government grants   (2,781) (2,838)

   31,526   26,547  

Movements in working capital: 
Movement in debtors   (12) 1,157   
Movement in creditors   -   (12,701)

Cash generated from operations   31,514   15,003  

Cash flows from investing activities 
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets   (2,497) (1,417)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   29,017   13,586   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   19,510   5,924  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 16  48,527   19,510  
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
 Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited is a company limited by guarantee incorporated in the Republic of Ireland. 

Strand Street, Skerries, Co. Dublin., is the registered office, which is also the principal place of business of the company. 
The nature of the company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report. The financial 
statements have been presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional currency of the company.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES   
 The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in 

relation to the company’s financial statements.

 Statement of compliance
 The financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared on the going 

concern basis and in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” (FRS 102). These are the company’s first set of financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS 102. There 
have been no transitional adjustments made.

 Basis of preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with the historical cost 

convention except for certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, 
as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for assets. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 
2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

 Income
 The company is approved to receive rental income under a contract for care approved by the Health Service Executive.

 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
 Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. The charge to depreciation is 

calculated to write off the original cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their 
expected useful lives as follows:

  Land and buildings freehold  -  2% Straight line

  Machinery and equipment  -  20% Straight Line

  Fixtures and fittings  -  20% Straight Line

 The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed annually for impairment in periods if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 It is company policy to write off as expenses any renovations or refurbishment costs as incurred.  

 Trade and other debtors
 Trade and other debtors are recognised at fair value.  

 Trade and other creditors
 Trade and other creditors are recognised at fair value.  

 Taxation
 The company is a registered charity and is therefore exempt from corporation tax.

 Capital grants
 Capital grants received and receivable are treated as deferred income and amortised to the Income and Expenditure 

Account annually over the useful economic life of the asset to which it relates. Revenue grants are credited to the Income 
and Expenditure Account when received.

  

3. ADOPTION OF FRS 102
 This is the first set of financial statements prepared by Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited in accordance with 

accounting standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The company transitioned from previously extant Irish and UK 
GAAP to FRS 102 as at 1 January 2014.

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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4. DEPARTURE FROM COMPANIES ACT 2014 PRESENTATION
 The directors have elected to present an Income and Expenditure Account instead of a Profit and Loss Account in these 

financial statements as this company is a not-for-profit entity.

5. INCOME
 The whole of the company’s income is attributable to its market in the Republic of Ireland and is derived from the principal 

activity of rental income under a contract for care approved by the HSE.

6. OPERATING SURPLUS
   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

 Operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting): 
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   23,855   23,356   
 Amortisation of Capital grants   (2,781) (2,838)

7. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
 Land and Machinery Fixtures Total 
 buildings and  and  
 freehold equipment fittings  
 €   €   €   €  

Cost 
At 1 January 2015 1,041,707   10,774   1,830   1,054,311   
Additions -   2,497   -   2,497  

At 31 December 2015 1,041,707   13,271   1,830   1,056,808  

Depreciation 
At 1 January 2015 75,765   4,310   732   80,807   
Charge for the year 20,835   2,654   366   23,855  

At 31 December 2015 96,600   6,964   1,098   104,662  

Net book value 
At 31 December 2015 945,107   6,307   732   952,146  

At 31 December 2014 965,942   6,464   1,098   973,504

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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7.1  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS PRIOR YEAR

 Land and Machinery Fixtures Total 
 buildings and  and  
 freehold equipment fittings  
 €   €   €   €  

Cost 
At 1 January 2014 1,040,290   10,774   1,830   1,052,894     
Additions 1,417   -   -   1,417    

At 31 December 2014 1,041,707   10,774   1,830   1,054,311    

Depreciation 
At 1 January 2014 54,930   2,155   366   57,451  
Charge for the year 20,835   2,155   366   23,356    

At 31 December 2014 75,765   4,310   732   80,807    

Net book value 
At 31 December 2014 965,942   6,464   1,098   973,504    

At 31 December 2013  985,360   8,619   1,464   995,443    

8. DEBTORS
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Other debtors   1,612   443   
 Prepayments and accrued income   521   1,678  

    2,133   2,121  

9. CREDITORS 

    2015   2014   
 Amounts falling due within one year   €   €  

 Amounts owed to connected parties (Note 14)   22,712   22,712   
 Accruals   9,917   9,917  

    32,629   32,629

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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10. CAPITAL GRANTS 
    2015   2014   
    €   €   
 Capital grants received and receivable 
 At 1 January 2015   144,762   144,762  

 Amortisation 
 At 1 January 2015   (5,733) (2,895) 
 Amortised in year   (2,781) (2,838)

 At 31 December 2015   (8,514) (5,733)

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2015   136,248   139,029  

 At 1 January 2015   139,029   141,867  

 These grants related to contributions towards the provision of a new premises and will be written off over the asset’s 
useful life.

11. STATUS
 The liability of the members is limited.

 Every member of the company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of its being wound 
up while they are members, or within one year thereafter, for the payment of the debts and liabilities of the company 
contracted before they ceased to be members, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and for the 
adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves, such amount as may be required, not exceeding €1.27.

12. RESERVES
 Special Reserve
 Special reserve has arisen as a result of transfer of title to properties in 2011 from Fingal Association for the Handicapped.

13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
 The company had no material capital commitments at the year-ended 31 December 2015.

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
    2015   2014   
 The following amounts are due to other connected parties:   €   €   
  
 Prosper Fingal Limited   22,712   22,712    

15. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
 On 1st January 2016 Prosper Social Care Services Limited - trading as Prosper Group became the parent company of 

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited.

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
    2015   2014   
    €   €  

 Cash and bank balances   48,527   19,510  

17. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2016.

Prosper Fingal Housing Association Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Prosper	Meath	Limited
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

Directors’ Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Directors   Conor Sparks (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
   Mary Dowling (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
   John Delany 
   Noel Hickey 
   Mary Walsh 
   Kitty O’Connor (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
   Dr. Mary Murphy (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
   Seamus Smyth (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
   Sean McKeown (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
   Breda Rogers (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
   Hugh O’Brien (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
   Miriam McKenna (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
   Madge Cooke (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
   Mel O’Rourke (Resigned 28 October 2015)

Company Secretary Mary Dowling (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
   Maria Weldon (Resigned 28 October 2015)

Company number  10243

Registered office  Beechmount Home Park 
   Navan 
   Co. Meath 
   C15 HWK8

Auditors   OMAC Management Services Limited t/a W.O.McGrory & Company 
   Certified Public Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
   Carlington Lodge 
   Dublin Road 
   Drogheda 
   Co. Louth 
   A92 Y38R

Bankers   Bank of Ireland 
   Market Square 
   Navan 
   Co. Meath 
   C15 T291

Solicitors   Gerrard L. McGowan 
   29 Thomas Hand Street 
   Skerries 
   Co.Dublin 
   K34 FC99

Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS AND OTHER INFORMATION
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.  

Principal Activity and Review of the Business
The company is a non-statutory provider of services to adults with an intellectual disability in the County Meath area and is a 
registered charity (CHY 10243).   

The Company is limited by guarantee not having a share capital.    

There has been no significant change in these activities during the year ended 31 December 2015.

The company was previously registered as Meath Intellectual Disability Work Advocacy You Limited until 07/12/2015.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
In common with many companies operating in the disability services sector the company faces the following principal risks -

 increasing staffing, operational and compliance costs

 responding to increased and changing needs of both clients and carers

 staff recruitment and retention in the greater Fingal and Meath areas is a challenge

 lack of capital expenditure by the State leads to additional operational and health and safety risks

 attracting suitably qualified and committed board members 

 the nature of funding from the HSE (Health Service Executive) which is on an annual basis - it is not set and permanent

The directors are of the opinion that the company is well positioned to manage these costs and challenges on an ongoing 
basis.

Financial Results
The surplus for the year after providing for depreciation amounted to €79,644 (2014 - €123,868).   

At the end of the year the company has assets of €1,425,821 (2014 - €1,317,766) and liabilities of €884,064 (2014 - 
€855,653). The net assets of the company have increased by €79,644.

Directors and Secretary
The directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, were as follows:

Conor Sparks (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
Mary Dowling (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
John Delany 
Noel Hickey 
Mary Walsh 
Kitty O’Connor (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
Dr. Mary Murphy (Appointed 14 September 2015) 

Seamus Smyth (Appointed 14 September 2015) 
Sean McKeown (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Breda Rogers (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Hugh O’Brien (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Miriam McKenna (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Madge Cooke (Resigned 28 October 2015) 
Mel O’Rourke (Resigned 28 October 2015)

The secretaries who served during the year were;     
Mary Dowling (Appointed 27 July 2015) 
Mary Grimes (Resigned 28 October 2015)   

Future Developments
The company plans to continue its present activities and current trading levels. Employees are kept as fully informed as 
practicable about developments within the business.   

Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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Post Balance Sheet Events
On 1st January 2016 Prosper Social Care Services Limited - trading as Prosper Group became the parent company of Prosper 
Meath Limited.  

Auditors
The auditors, OMAC Management Services Limited t/a W.O.McGrory & Company, (Certified Public Accountants and Statutory 
Audit Firm) have indicated their willingness to continue in office in accordance with the provisions of Section 383(2) of the 
Companies Act, 2014. 

Accounting Records
To ensure that adequate accounting records are kept in accordance with Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014, 
the directors have employed appropriately qualified accounting personnel and have maintained appropriate computerised 
accounting systems. The accounting records are located at the company’s group registered office at Strand Street, Skerries, 
Co.Dublin.

Signed on behalf of the board

Conor Sparks  
Director 
27 September 2016   

Mary Dowling 
Director 
27 September 2016 

Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
Irish law and regulations. 

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Under company 
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at the financial year end date and of the surplus or deficit of the 
company for the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	for	the	company	financial	statements	and	then	apply	them	consistently;

	make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;

	 state	whether	the	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	applicable	accounting	standards,	
identify	those	standards,	and	note	the	effect	and	the	reasons	for	any	material	departure	from	those	standards;	and

	prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	company	
will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position 
and surplus or deficit of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be 
audited. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Conor Sparks  
Director 
27 September 2016   

Mary Dowling 
Director 
27 September 2016 

Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015
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We have audited the financial statements of Prosper Meath Limited for the year ended 31 December 2015 which comprise 
the Income and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the Reconciliation of Members’ Funds, the Cash Flow Statement, 
the Accounting Policies and the related notes. The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise comply with the Companies 
Act 2014. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with Irish law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practice Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Directors’ Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by 
us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	assets,	liabilities	and	financial	position	of	the	company	as	at	31	December	2015	and	of	
its	results	for	the	year	then	ended;	and

 have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	relevant	financial	reporting	framework	and,	in	particular,	the	
requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	2014.

Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014
 We	have	obtained	all	the	information	and	explanations	which	we	consider	necessary	for	the	purposes	of	our	audit.
 In	our	opinion	the	accounting	records	of	the	company	were	sufficient	to	permit	the	financial	statements	to	be	readily	
and properly audited.

 The	financial	statements	are	in	agreement	with	the	accounting	records.
 In	our	opinion	the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	Report	is	consistent	with	the	financial	statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made.

Paul Farrell 
for and on behalf of 
OMAC MANAGEMENT SERVICES LIMITED T/A W.O.MCGRORY & COMPANY 
Certified Public Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm 
Carlington Lodge, Dublin Road, Drogheda, Co. Louth, A92 Y38R

27 September 2016

Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the Members of Prosper Social Care Services Limited 
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Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Income 5  3,197,110   2,895,918  

Expenditure   (3,115,288) (2,768,822)

Surplus on ordinary activities before interest   81,822   127,096  

Interest receivable and similar income 7  50   -   
Interest payable and similar charges 8  (2,228) (3,228)

Total Comprehensive Income   79,644   123,868  

 
The company has no recognised gains or losses other than the surplus for the year. The results for the year have been 
calculated on the historical cost basis. The company’s income and expenses all relate to continuing operations.

Approved by the board on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Conor Sparks  
Director 

Mary Dowling 
Director 
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Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

BALANCE SHEET
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Fixed Assets 
Tangible assets 10  703,000   713,233  

Current Assets 
Debtors 11  62,420   406,600   
Cash and cash equivalents   660,401   197,933  

   722,821   604,533  

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 12  (409,372) (332,610)

Net Current Assets   313,449   271,923  

Total Assets less Current Liabilities   1,016,449   985,156  

Creditors 
Amounts falling due after more than one year 13  -   (9,415)

Capital grants 15   (474,692) (513,628)

Net Assets   541,757   462,113  

Reserves 
Income and expenditure account   541,757   462,113  

Members’ Funds   541,757   462,113  

Approved by the board on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Conor Sparks  
Director 

Mary Dowling 
Director 
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Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

RECONCILIATION OF MEMBERS’ FUNDS
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   Retained Total 
   surplus      
   € €

At 1 January 2014   338,245   338,245  

Surplus for the year   123,868   123,868  

At 31 December 2014   462,113   462,113  

Surplus for the year   79,644   79,644  

At 31 December 2015   541,757   541,757  
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Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 December 2015

   2015   2014   
 Notes  € €

Cash flows from operating activities 
Surplus for the year   79,644   123,868   
Adjustments for: 
Interest receivable and similar income   (50) -   
Interest payable and similar charges   2,228   3,228   
Depreciation   89,007   75,450   
Amortisation of HSE capital grants   (38,936) (38,937)

   131,893   163,609  

Movements in working capital: 
Movement in debtors   344,180   (264,055) 
Movement in creditors   77,211   80,086  

Cash generated from/(used in) operations   553,284   (20,360) 
Interest paid   (2,228) (3,228)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities   551,056   (23,588)

Cash flows from investing activities 
Interest received   50   -   
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets   (82,481) (259,419) 
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets   3,708   -  

Net cash used in investment activities   (78,723) (259,419)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Capital element of hire purchase contracts   (14,359) (21,834)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   457,974   (304,841) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year   197,933   502,774  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 20  655,907   197,933  
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
 Prosper Meath Limited is a company limited by guarantee incorporated in the Republic of Ireland. Beechmount Home 

Park, Navan, Co. Meath., is the registered office, which is also the principal place of business of the company. The nature 
of the company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Directors’ Report. The financial statements have 
been presented in Euro (€) which is also the functional currency of the company.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in 

relation to the company’s financial statements.

 Statement of compliance
 The financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared on the going 

concern basis and in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic  
of Ireland” (FRS 102). These are the company’s first set of financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS 102.  
There have been no transitional adjustments made.

 Basis of preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis and in accordance with the historical cost 

convention except for certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, 
as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given 
in exchange for assets. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 
2014 and FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council.

 Income
 The company receives the majority of it’s income from the Health Service Executive (HSE).

 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
 Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost or at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. The charge to depreciation is 

calculated to write off the original cost or valuation of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their 
expected useful lives as follows:

  Land and buildings freehold  - 2% Straight line
  Long leasehold property  - 2% Straight line
  Machinery and equipment  - 20% Straight Line
  Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 20% Straight Line
  Motor vehicles  - 20% Reducing Balance

 The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed annually for impairment in periods if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

 Leasing and Hire Purchases
 Tangible fixed assets held under leasing and hire purchase arrangements which transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the company are capitalised and included in the Balance Sheet at their cost or valuation, less 
depreciation. The corresponding commitments are recorded as liabilities. Payments in respect of these obligations are 
treated as consisting of capital and interest elements, with interest charged to the Income and Expenditure Account. 

 Trade and other debtors
 Trade and other debtors are recognised at fair value.

 Borrowing costs
 All borrowing costs are recognised in the income and expenditure account in the period in which they are incurred. 

 Trade and other creditors
 Trade and other creditors are recognised at fair value.

 Employee benefits
 The company makes deductions from employee salaries to a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the 

scheme are held separately from those of the company in an independently administered fund operated by the National 
Federation of Voluntary Bodies.

 Taxation
 The company is registered as a charity with the Revenue Commissioners and is therefore exempt from corporation tax. 
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 Capital grants
 Capital grants received and receivable are treated as deferred income and amortised to the Income and Expenditure 

Account annually over the useful economic life of the asset to which it relates. Revenue grants are credited to the Income 
and Expenditure Account when received.  

3. ADOPTION OF FRS 102
 This is the first set of financial statements prepared by Prosper Meath Limited in accordance with accounting standards 

issued by the Financial Reporting Council, including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland” (FRS 102). The company transitioned from previously extant Irish and UK GAAP to FRS 102 as at 1 
January 2014.

4. DEPARTURE FROM COMPANIES ACT 2014 PRESENTATION
 The directors have elected to present an Income and Expenditure Account instead of a Profit and Loss Account in these 

financial statements as this company is a not-for-profit entity.

5. INCOME
 The income for the year has been derived from:-
    2015   2014   
    € €

 HSE - Section 39   3,064,695   2,604,659  
 Department of Education and other grants   86,482   90,208   
 Donations   6,997   12,114  
 HSE - project funding   -   150,000   
 Other operating income   38,936   38,937  

    3,197,110   2,895,918  

 Other operating income represents amortisation of capital grants.

 

 The whole of the company’s income is attributable to its market in the Republic of Ireland and is derived from the principal 
activity of provision of services to adults with an intellectual disability in the County Meath area.

6. OPERATING SURPLUS
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting): 
 Depreciation of tangible fixed assets   89,007   75,450   
 Amortisation of Capital grants   (38,936) (38,937)

7. INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Bank interest   50   -    
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8. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR CHARGES
   2015   2014   
   € €

 Hire purchase interest   2,228   3,228      

9. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
 Number of employees
 The average number of persons employed (including executive directors) during the year was as follows:

   2015   2014   
   Number Number

 Front line staff   60   58   
 Salary band €55,001 to €70,000   1   -   
 Salary band €70,001 to €80,000   -   1   
 Salary band €80,001 to €90,000   1   -   
 Salary band €90,001 to €100,000   -   1  

    62   60  

   
 The staff costs comprise:   2015   2014   
    € €

 Wages and salaries   2,028,149   1,623,314   
 Social welfare costs   212,620   183,800   
 Pension costs   103,420   80,365  

    2,344,189   1,887,479
  
   
 The above salary bands include pay, employee pension contributions and benefits in kind where applicable.

 Key management compensation comprising salaries and other short term employee benefits amounted to €141,767 
during the year - €174,827 in 2014.

 The directors do not receive any remuneration or expenses for their services provided as board members of the 
company.

Prosper Meath Limited 
(A company limited by guarantee, without a share capital)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2015



82|Prosper Group Annual Report 2015

10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

  Land and Long Machinery  Fixtures Motor Total 
  buildings leasehold and fittings and vehicles  
  freehold property equipment equipment

  €   €   €   €   €   €  

 Cost 
 At 1 January 2015 848,332   38,092   63,312   77,373   379,257   1,406,366   
 Additions 5,443   -   46,383   -   30,655   82,481   
 Disposals -   -   -   -   (13,950) (13,950)

 At 31 December 2015 853,775   38,092   109,695   77,373   395,962   1,474,897  

   Depreciation 
 At 1 January 2015 214,088   38,092   45,058   77,373   318,522   693,133   
 Charge for the year 42,689   -   17,680   -   28,637   89,006   
 On disposals -   -   -   -   (10,242) (10,242)

 At 31 December 2015 256,777   38,092   62,738   77,373   336,917   771,897  

   Net book value 
 At 31 December 2015 596,998   -   46,957   -   59,045   703,000  

  634,244   -   18,254   -   60,735   713,233  

10 .1. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS PRIOR YEAR

  Land and Long Machinery  Fixtures Motor Total 
  buildings leasehold and fittings and vehicles  
  freehold property equipment equipment

  €   €   €   €   €   €  

 Cost

 At 1 January 2014 624,252   38,092   38,973   77,373   368,257   1,146,947   
 Additions 224,080   -   24,339   -   11,000   259,419  

 At 31 December 2014 848,332   38,092   63,312   77,373   379,257   1,406,366  

   Depreciation 
 At 1 January 2014 171,671   38,092   38,973   77,373   291,574   617,683   
 Charge for the year 42,417   -   6,085   -   26,948   75,450  

 At 31 December 2014 214,088   38,092   45,058   77,373   318,522   693,133    

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2014 634,244   -   18,254   -   60,735   713,233  

 At 31 December 2013 452,581   -   -   -   76,683   529,264    
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11. DEBTORS
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Trade debtors   2,222   406,600   
 Other debtors   46,531   -   
 Prepayments and accrued income   13,667   -  

    62,420   406,600   

12. CREDITORS
 Amounts falling due within one year   2015   2014   
    € €

 Bank overdrafts   4,495   -   
 Net obligations under finance leases 
 and hire purchase contracts   9,304   14,248   
 Trade creditors   131,927   2,381   
 Taxation  (Note 14)   56,197   119,978   
 Other creditors   91,227   -   
 Accruals   116,222   196,003  

    409,372   332,610   

13. CREDITORS
 Amounts falling due after more than one year   2015   2014   
    € €

 Finance leases and hire purchase contracts   -   9,415  

 Net obligations under finance leases 
 and hire purchase contracts 
 Repayable within one year   9,304   14,248   
 Repayable between one and five years   -   9,415  

    9,304   23,663  

14. TAXATION
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Creditors: 
 PAYE   56,197     119,978    

 This represents PAYE, PRSI and USC due to the Revenue Commissioners.
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15. CAPITAL GRANTS
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Capital grants received and receivable 
 At 1 January 2015   612,689   612,689  

 Amortisation 
 At 1 January 2015   (99,061) (60,124) 
 Amortised in year   (38,936) (38,937)

 At 31 December 2015   (137,997) (99,061)

 Net book value 
 At 31 December 2015   474,692   513,628  

 At 1 January 2015   513,628   552,565  

 These grants related to contributions towards the provision of a new premises in Trim which will be written off over  
 the asset’s useful life.

16. STATUS
 The liability of the members is limited.

 Every member of the company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company in the event of its being wound 
up while they are members, or within one year thereafter, for the payment of the debts and liabilities of the company 
contracted before they ceased to be members, and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and for the 
adjustment of the rights of the contributors among themselves, such amount as may be required, not exceeding €1.27.

17. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
 The company had no material capital commitments at the year-ended 31 December 2015.  

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 John Delaney is a member of the Board of Directors. He is also a director of Ablevision Ireland Limited - a company that 

was engaged to provide services during the year. The value of these services was €5,240.

 Mary Walsh is a member of the board of directors and is also involved with Riding for the Disabled which was engaged to 
provide services during the year. The value of these services was €3,600.

 During the year the company shared certain administrative costs with Prosper Fingal Limited -a related company by 
virtue of having common directors. The value of these transact ions in the year represented a charge from Prosper Fingal 
Limited to Prosper Meath Limited of €86,227.

19. POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
 On 1st January 2016 Prosper Social Care Services Limited - trading as Prosper Group became the parent company of 

Prosper Meath Limited.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
    2015   2014   
    € €

 Cash and bank balances   577,080   131,239   
 Bank overdrafts   (4,495) -   
 Cash equivalents   83,321   66,694  

    655,906   197,933  

 Bank balance adjustment   1   -  

    655,907   197,933

   Cash equivalents represents monies held in deposit accounts.

21. CHANGE OF NAME
 The company was formerly registered as Meath Intellectual Disability Work Advocacy You Limited until 7/12/2015.

22. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 September 2016.
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